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Kingsgate is a gold expert in exploration, development and mining with a 
track record of world’s best practice in sustainability (safety, environment, 
community relations).
Our focus is to achieve superior returns for shareholders.
Our aim is to leverage the competitive edge developed at our low cost 
Chatree mine in Thailand to expand production elsewhere in South East Asia, 
South America and Australia.

WHO IS KINGSGATE?

Regeneration at Chatree 
The team at the Chatree Gold Mine is constantly 
seeking new or local species which will improve 
land productivity and enhance biodiversity. Our 
plant nurseries develop a range of plant stocks 
for regenerating previously disturbed land. 

 
This commitment to world’s best practice 
is further demonstrated through water 
management. Chatree’s approach is zero 
discharge and recycles more than 80% of its 
water in an area with a long dry season.
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DELIVERS

Low Cost Gold
Lowest Discovery Cost
Lowest Quartile Production Cost
Expansion to 300, 000 oz/yr
Proven Track Record
World Class Sustainability
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HIGHLIGHTS

• �LOW COST GOLD PRODUCER

• �WORLD CLASS GOLD PROVINCE

• �CONTINUOUS GROWTH 1Moz GOLD/YR

• �REGULAR DIVIDENDS

• �AWARD WINNING SUSTAINABILITY

Revenue Cash Cost Resources Lost Time Injury LTI

$74.1 m US$206/oz 3.8Moz Zero

Profit Total Cost Reserves Hours Worked  
Since Last LTI

$16.7 m US$247/oz 1.7Moz 5.7 million 

Earnings Per Share Gold Poured Ore Treated Environmental 
Incidents (reportable)

19.3c 140,071oz 2.0Mt Zero

Dividends Per Share Silver Poured Gold Grade Sustainability Index

10c 459,701oz 2.4g/t A Rating (RepuTex)
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Kingsgate promised solid production, profit and 
growth – and delivered again.

2005/06 was another profitable year, with net 
profit of $16.7 million (US$12.3 million), up 
99% on last year, with the prospect of higher 
profits to come as the Company becomes 
unhedged by the end of 2006/07. The Directors 
have announced dividends of 10 cents per 
share for 2005/06 maintaining a 50% payout 
ratio of after tax profits. A cumulative total of 
79 cents per share has been paid as dividends 
since mid-2002.

A decision was made early in the past financial 
year to aggressively deliver into the gold hedge 
positions to allow investors greater leverage 
to the gold price and manage the new AIFRS 
accounting standards. The original gold hedge 
positions existed due to the original mine 
development being 100% debt financed in 
2001/02 when gold prices were US$260–270 
per ounce. The gold price was buoyant during 
the past financial year, trading between 
US$419–725 per ounce gold.

Consistent mine performance, improved 
processing capacity and a continued focus on 
costs underpinned the great result. This was 
achieved in a difficult year where cost pressures 
affected all producers in the resources 
sector. The Directors thank all their staff and 
contractors for such a strong commitment to 
efficient production using world’s best practice.

The Board was pleased to see a large block of 
exploration leases (SPL’s) granted recently in 
Thailand. This demonstrated that Kingsgate’s 
patience and persistence pays off with time. 
The share price rise on the announcement is an 
indication of the market uplift which would be 
expected once the mining leases are granted 
at Chatree North. Many targets previously 
identified within the exploration leases are now 
available to be drill tested which provides strong 
potential for further deposits in the future.

The sell down of 51% equity in the Thai 
operating company, Akara Mining Limited, is on 
schedule to meet the Thai Board of Investment 
guidelines by the end of November 2006. 
Kingsgate intends to implement a divestment 
process that will result in the Company 
ultimately receiving market value for its Thai 
investment. Discussions have been held with 
Thai investors and financial and legal advisors 
have been appointed to complete the process.

Kingsgate is seeking to expand the Company, 
both at Chatree by increasing production and 
through discoveries in the recently granted 
exploration licences, as well as elsewhere 
outside of Thailand. The aim is to become a 
significant mid-tier gold producer with over 
500,000 ounces gold produced annually.

Projects and companies continue to be 
reviewed in South East Asia, Australia and 
South America, with a preference to leverage 
the Company’s skill set in exploration, 
development and operations in other similar 
gold districts.

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW

2005/06 was another profitable year, with net 
profit of $16.7 million (US$12.3 million), up 99%  
on last year, with the prospect of higher profits  
to come as the Company becomes unhedged  
by the end of 2006/07.

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Annual Report 2006
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CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW
www.kingsgate.com.au

The Directors are 
confident that Kingsgate 
is well-placed to  
advance its strategy  
for responsible,  
profitable growth.

A takeover for Andean Resource Limited fitted 
these criteria, with a mineralisation style similar 
to Chatree where the Company’s skills could be 
effectively utilised. Initial friendly discussions 
were rebuffed. A disappointing reaction was 
received to a very well priced bid with the 
target apparently focused on other issues apart 
from the clear value in Kingsgate’s skill set 
and track record to explore and develop the 
project, as well as the obvious upside potential 
in Kingsgate.

A new management team has been established 
over the last 18 months to drive the Company 
forward, which started with the CEO, Gavin 
Thomas. A new CFO, Peter Warren, and the 
appointment of a Corporate Development 
Manager, Stephen Promnitz, complements the 
recent promotion of Phil MacIntyre into the 
newly created role of COO, and Ron James into 
the position of GM Exploration a year ago. The 
Directors continue to search for the appropriate 
person with Thai experience for the Board and 
to strengthen the Bangkok-based management. 

The Directors are confident that Kingsgate 
is well-placed to advance its strategy for 
responsible, profitable growth. The healthy 
outlook for 2006/07, with similar production 
levels as the previous year, provides upside 
potential from becoming an unhedged gold 
producer by June 2007, potential exploration 
success in newly granted leases, the completion 
of the sell down and anticipated granting of 
mining leases at Chatree North.

Ross Smyth-Kirk 
Director

Key Results

Production Summary		  2006	 2005 	 % Change
Ore Treated	 Tonnes	 2,000,264	 1,828,876	 9
Ore Grade	 Au g/t	 2.4	 2.4	 -
Recovery	 %	 90.2	 90.8	 -1
Gold Poured	 Ozs	 140,071	 126,550	 11
Silver Poured	 Ozs	 459,701	 353,275	 30
Cash Costs per Ounce	 US$/oz	 206	 212	 -3
Total Cost per Ounce	 US$/oz	 247	 262	 -6
Average Realised Price	 US$/oz	 355	 401	 -11
Average Spot Price	 US$/oz	 525	 422	 24

Financial Summary		  2006	 2005 	 % Change
Revenue	 $’000	 74,143	 66,770	 11
Net Profit Before Tax	 $’000	 16,662	 8,391	 99
Income Tax	 $’000	 -	 -	 -
Net Profit After Tax	 $’000	 16,662	 8,391	 99
Cash Flow from Operations	 $’000	 21,889	 22,184	 -1
Capital Expenditure	 $’000	 15,201	 4,229	 259
Exploration and Land Expenditure	 $’000	 15,310	 33,913	 -55
Dividends Paid (Cash and DRP)	 $’000	 8,669	 11,973	 -28
Basic Earnings Per Share	 Cents	 19.3	 9.8	 97

KINGSGATE DELIVERS

GOLD EXPERTS

Sustainable 
and Safe

Low Cost 
Growth

Rapid 
Growth

High 
Dividends

Profitable

Solid 
Production
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Consistent, low cost gold production with world 
class safety, environmental and workplace 
standards underpinned a ‘cracker’ result for 
2005/06. Rapid growth in resources continued 
and the feasibility study is almost complete for 
the plant expansion at Chatree. A large block of 
exploration leases have been granted recently 
which contain drill ready targets and potentially 
other Chatree-size deposits.

Production/Operations
Total production at Chatree for the year was 
140,071 ounces of gold and 459,701 ounces of 
silver at a total cash cost of US$206 per ounce 
and total production cost of US$247 per ounce of 
gold. These results continue to establish Chatree 
as a very low cost producer and in the lowest 
20% of producers globally (Source: Global Mining 
Research). Industry-wide cost pressures were 
managed this year with cash costs being reduced 
3% year-on-year, which was a stand-out result.

Gold production represents an increase of 10.7% 
on the previous year mainly as a result of higher 
plant throughput following the full commissioning 
of the pebble crusher. The annualised throughput 
rate has increased from 1.83 to 2.35 million tonnes 
per annum. However, there is limited opportunity 
to increase this further prior to the planned  
major expansion.

Continuous improvement initiatives are 
continually assessed, with detailed discussions 
underway to reduce explosives costs by preparing 
bulk explosives adjacent to the mine and using 
improved blasting methods to potentially reduce 
the grinding/energy cost per tonne in the plant. 
Underground mining under the current pits is 
being evaluated at present which may increase 
gold production marginally.

Sustainability
Kingsgate operates one of the world’s safest mines, 
based on our research, with only one lost time 
injury ever (in 2003) in nearly 5 years of operation 
plus a further year for the original construction 
period. No reportable environmental incidents 
have occurred during the same period. 

The Company maintained international 
accreditations for ISO 9001 for Quality 
Management, ISO 14001 for Environmental 
Management and OHSAS 18001 for Occupational 
Health and Safety Management. The Company  
is finalising ISO 17025 accreditation for  
the laboratory which is anticipated to be  
granted shortly. 

Akara has also applied for certification of the 
Chatree operation to the international SA 8000 
accreditation for Social Accountability and the 
Thai Labour Standard (TLS 8001) and is awaiting 
certification audits for both. These Standards 

provide for labour protection, welfare, employee 
relations and health and safety, as well as the  
Conventions of the International Labour 
Organisation and United Nations. 

Chatree won several major Thai awards for 
outstanding health, safety and labour relations, 
environmental management and business 
excellence. The mine strengthened community 
relations through a focus on health and education. 

Kingsgate has maintained its ‘A’ rating for 
sustainability with RepuTex and its high rating 
with the DowJones-SAM AuSSI rating system, 
both established for ASX listed companies.  
The Company has produced its 4th consecutive 
Sustainability Report with a Thai version nearing 
completion for stakeholders and new investors  
in Thailand.

The Company remains intent on improving its  
‘model mine’ in Thailand, which should 
demonstrate the Company’s ability to expand and 
open further mines in the future in a responsible 
manner considering all stakeholders.

Expansion Growth
An expansion is planned to double gold production 
to approximately 300,000 ounces per year and 
increase annual silver production to approximately 
2 million ounces from 350-450,000 ounces  
at present. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S REPORT

Chatree’s results continue to establish Chatree as  
a very low cost producer and in the lowest 20%  
of producers globally. Exploration will deliver more 
Chatree-style deposits in the near future.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Annual Report 2006
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT
www.kingsgate.com.au

Kingsgate operates one 
of the world’s safest 
mines, with only one lost 
time injury ever in nearly 
5 years of operation.

Ausenco are in the process of completing 
the upgrade of last year’s scoping study to a 
full feasibility study on the expansion of the 
processing plant to handle 5 million tonnes per 
annum of ore. Grinding mills with an increased 
capacity of 2.7 million tonne per annum would 
be added. Gravity concentration circuits will be 
installed on both parallel grinding circuits. A 
new leach circuit with a modified Merrill Crowe 
circuit will be added to improve silver recoveries 
from around 45% at present up to 70%. This 
is considered to be very beneficial since silver 
grades are 3 to 5 times higher at Chatree North 
A pit than the current Chatree pits. The existing 
cyanide carbon in leach circuit will be retained and 
operated in series.

Industry wide cost increases on capital items 
and lengthened delivery timeframes, especially 
on grinding mills, are expected to impact the 
final feasibility study, substantially increasing the 
scoping study capital cost estimates of early 2005.

The expansion will be subject to the granting 
of nine mining leases at Chatree North. The 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
for Chatree North has been completed by 
the Company and is in the final stages of 
assessment by the relevant authorities. Once 
the EIA is formally approved, the mining leases 
applications can proceed within the Thai 
government approval process.

Exploration Growth 
Exploration has continued to increase resources 
by around one million ounces of gold per 
annum for the last three years at a globally 
low cost of US$7 per ounce gold. Mineral 
Resources now stand at 3.8 million ounces gold 
and 32 million ounces silver, with Ore Reserves 
of 1.7 million ounces gold. There has been an 
increased focus on converting discoveries to 
higher categories of mineral resources and 
ore reserves. This was demonstrated by a 45% 
increase during the year of resources in the 
measured and indicated category.

The limits of the gold mineralised system at 
Chatree have not been found yet, with the A pit at 
Chatree North open in all directions. Beyond the 
mine area, the mineralisation has been extended 
over 23 kilometres north and south of Chatree. 
Therefore, the exploration budget has been 
increased further, from US$7.9 million last year to 
US$11 million for 2006/07, with a further drill rig 
bringing the total to nine available drill rigs.

A large contiguous block of exploration leases 
(SPL’s) were granted recently with a further block 
expected to be granted soon, covering an area 
of 1500 square kilometres in the three provinces 
of Phitchit, Phetchabun and Phitsanulok. Over 
40 targets were identified by non-disturbance 
surface sampling and geophysics, allowable prior 
to granting. A number of drill-ready targets are 

available for testing. One target has a surface 
anomaly of a similar size to Chatree of around  
23 square kilometres. Land access agreements  
are being negotiated prior to drilling. 

Exploration outside of the Chatree district lead 
to new exploration lease applications southeast 
of Bangkok. 

In South America, Kingsgate continues to pursue 
opportunities and acquire tenements in Peru, 
Chile and Argentina in search for gold and silver 
epithermal systems.

Gavin Thomas Chief Executive Officer

• Chatree Gold Mine

• Bangkok

THAILAND

Exploration Success at Chatree
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finance

KINGSGATE HAS A HISTORY OF  
STRONG SHARE MARKET RETURNS 
AND REGULAR DIVIDENDS
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Group Earnings
The net profit after tax for the year was  
$16.7 million and represents a 99% increase 
on the profit of $8.4 million achieved in 
the previous year. The profit is equivalent to 
US$12.3 million, a significant improvement to 
that achieved in 2004/05 of US$6.5 million. 
Operational performance improved over the 
previous financial year mainly due to a 10% 
increase in mill throughput at similar grades and 
a slightly lower cash cost per ounce. The Group 
aggressively delivered into hedge positions (as 
it moves to become an unhedged producer) 
which impacted on revenues but not profits as 
provisions taken in the transition to AIFRS were 
released. In addition, $2.85 million of exploration 
expenditure mainly in South America was 
expensed to profits during the year.

Gold production for the year was  
140,071 ounces. Total revenue amounted to 
$74.1 million, an increase of 11% over the 
previous year. The increase in revenue resulted 
from higher gold production although the 
delivery into hedge positions constrained 
revenue. The average gold price received 
during the year was US$355 per ounce.

The Group continued with its focus on cost 
management and achieved unit cash costs 
of production of US$206 per ounce and a 
total production cost of US$247 per ounce. 
Procurement of supplies and services is 
increasingly being sourced within Thailand at 
internationally competitive prices. 

The weighted average earnings per share for 
the year amounted to 19.3 cents compared 
with 9.8 cents achieved in the previous year. 

Group Cash Flow
The Group’s cash flow for the year totalled  
$21.9 million despite the pre-delivery of  
out-of-the-money hedges. Net investing 
cash flows for property, plant, equipment and 
exploration were $36.2 million and included 
$15.3 million invested on exploration activities. 

Dividends paid during the year amounted to 
$7.4 million and a further $1.3 million was 
expended on the Share Buy Back program, 
under which 376,167 shares were cancelled.

The Group has available a financing facility of 
US$16 million, with 4 banks participating by 
means of a revolving credit facility. The facility 
was fully available at year-end.

Financial Position
Shareholders’ equity at 30 June 2006 was  
$128 million and represents an increase of 
5.6% on the previous year.

Income Tax 
The Group’s operation is located in Thailand 
and operates under approvals received from the 
Royal Thai Board of Investment (BOI). Subject 
to meeting BOI conditions, the benefits of these 
approvals include an exemption from corporate 
income tax for 8 years, with a reduction of 
50% of the standard rate available for 5 years 
thereafter based on a production of 178,416 
ounces of gold and 583,733 ounces of silver 
per year. In addition, there are no withholding 
taxes applicable on dividends remitted to 
Australia during the initial exemption period.

Risk Management
The Group holds a gold hedge book due to the 
original mine development being 100% debt 
financed in 2001/02 when gold prices were 
US$260-270 per ounce. The principal objective in 
managing revenue risk through the use of hedging 
instruments is to minimise the downward price 
exposure associated with the volatile gold market. 

The Group constantly monitors the gold market 
and hedge book to actively manage value. A 
decision was made early in the 2005/06 financial 
year to aggressively deliver into the gold hedge 
positions with the view to providing, in the 
future, an increased exposure to spot gold price 
in a rising gold price environment. This resulted 
in pre-deliveries of out-of-the-money hedge 
positions during the year. 

Financial instruments used by the Group 
include forwards, puts and calls, of which a 
number have down and out barrier levels. As 
at 30 June 2006, price limiting positions had 
reduced to 58,780 ounces of gold at US$317 
per ounce which represent approximately  
4% of the total Ore Reserves. 
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Kingsgate has an excellent track record of superior 
share price performance and total shareholder 
returns over the longer term.
Over the last 5 years to end FY06, investing in 
Kingsgate delivered:
•	 A share price increase of 625% 
•	 Total annual rate of return of 53%*

FINANCE
www.kingsgate.com.au

Operating Profit and Cashflow
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The negative mark to market valuation of these 
positions as at 30 June 2006 was $23.2 million, 
calculated by reference to the year-end spot 
gold price and exchange rate. However, these 
positions will be closed out by the end of the 
new financial year 2006/07. 

Dividends
A final dividend of 5 cents per share was paid 
to shareholders during the year relating to the 
2004/05 year. In addition, an interim dividend 
for 2005/06 of 5 cents per share was paid to 
shareholders in April 2006. The Directors have 
declared a final dividend of 5 cents per share, 
payable on 3 October 2006. This brings the 
total dividend declared for the year to 10 cents 
per share.

Business Development
During the course of the year, a takeover bid 
was made for ASX-listed Andean Resources 
Limited, which resulted in a 22.4% strategic 
position, being booked as an asset available 
for sale. Potential conflicts of interest were 
managed in accordance with the Company’s 
corporate governance policies. Therefore the 
CEO, Gavin Thomas, was excluded from any 
involvement in the process due to his position 
on the board of Andean Resources at that 
time. Kingsgate maintained its 19.7% position 
in Goldstar Resources, which is an explorer 
assessing the potential of the historical 
Victorian gold district around Walhalla.
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Operating and Investing Cashflow

 Operating Cashflow           Investing Cashflow 
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KINGSGATE HAS A PROVEN TRACK 
RECORD DEVELOPING AND OPERATING 
A SHOWCASE MINE AT CHATREE

OPERATIONS
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OPERATIONS
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Annual Report 2006

Consistent production was achieved at the Chatree 
mine, up 11% on the previous year. Challenging 
conditions persisted of harder ore and waste rock, 
with longer haul distances, unusually heavy rain 
and the new A pit developed at Chatree North, 
against a backdrop of higher industry wide costs. 

The mine continued its world’s best practice in 
sustainability and is considered to be the world’s 
safest metallurgical mining operation, based on 
publicly available mine safety records in Australia 
and Canada (Source: MCA, CIMM).

•	 Gold production: 140,071 ounces (up 11%).

•	 Silver production: 459,701 ounces (up 30%).

•	 Cash costs: US$206 per ounce (down 3%).

•	 Total production costs: US$247 per ounce 
(down 6%).

•	 Mill throughput: 2.0 million tonnes per 
annum (up 11%).

•	 Mill throughput annualised rate: 2.35 million 
tonnes per annum (up 30%).

•	 Hours worked without lost time incident:  
5.4 million.

•	 Hours worked since start of construction:  
7.5 million, with one lost time incident – world’s 
safest metallurgical mine, on data reviewed.

Percentages in brackets (x%) represent change year-on-year.

The production increase was mainly due to 
increased mill throughput following the full 
commissioning of the pebble crusher. Annualised 

nameplate mill capacity was raised from 1.8 to 
2.35 million tonnes per annum. However, there is 
limited opportunity to increase throughput further 
prior to the planned major expansion. 

Gold grades for the year averaged 2.4 grams 
per tonne with a waste-to-ore ratio of 7:1, 
both as forecast.

Costs were kept down at US$206 per ounce gold 
due to the benefits of increased scale, the use 
of grid power, lower wage pressures due to few 
expatriates and the increased sourcing of materials 
in the local Thai market through the Company’s 
‘Buy Thai’ policy. Maintaining costs was an 
excellent performance given the increased costs 
of fuel, consumables, explosives and cyanide. Most 
material mined was hard rock requiring additional 
drilling, blasting and grinding in the mills. 
Increased rock support was required. The largest 
cost increase came with increased fuel prices and 
the gradual removal of all Thai subsidies on fuel 
during 2005/06, plus the longer haulage distances 
from a deeper pit and from Chatree North.

Mining activities continued mainly in the C-H-P 
pit with minor contributions from the D and S 
pit at Chatree. Development of the new A pit at 
Chatree North commenced in 2006, following 
the granting of one new mining lease. Personnel 
increased approximately 30% on site, although 
mainly among the contractors.

Continuous improvement initiatives are 
continually assessed, with detailed discussions 
underway to reduce explosives costs through 

the use of bulk explosives. This would involve 
mixing bulk explosives close to the mine and using 
improved blasting methods to potentially reduce 
the grinding/energy cost per tonne in the plant. 
Underground mining under the current pits is 
being evaluated at present which may increase 
gold production marginally.

Sustainability
Kingsgate operates one of the world’s safest mines, 
based on our research, with only one lost time 
injury ever (in 2003) in nearly 5 years of operation 
plus a further year for the original construction 
period. No reportable environmental incidents 
have occurred during the same period.

The annual external environmental audit 
confirmed that the mine continues to operate 
to high standards and in compliance with its 
statutory requirements. The Company maintained 
international accreditations with ISO standards 
on quality, environment and health and safety. 
Environmental performance under the Mineral 
Council of Australia’s ‘Enduring Value’ was 
assessed with favourable results. Kingsgate became 
a founding signatory to the International Cyanide 
Management Code for the safe use, handling and 
storage of cyanide.

Workplace initiatives continued in Thailand 
which included a focus on training and self 
improvement as well as women in management. 
Employee’s individual bonus structure includes 
performance measures against safety and 
environmental targets.

The Chatree mine was able to maintain costs with 
an increase in plant throughput. This demonstrates 
the commitment by the 99% Thai workforce to 
productivity and to Kingsgate’s ability to operate  
in different cultures.

10
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Community development programs continued 
with assistance to local villages, construction of 
two new schools and support of local cultural 
activities. Public education regarding the planned 
expansion and future rehabilitation continued. 
Community relations activities were restructured 
with plans to devolve some aspects to a Thai NGO. 

Akara, the Thai operating entity, received 
numerous Thai awards for outstanding 
environmental, health, safety and labour relations. 
These include:

•	 The Prime Minister’s ‘Best Practice  
Award for Employee Welfare’ (for the  
4th consecutive year).

•	 The National Safety Competition’s ‘National 
Occupational Health and Safety and 
Environment Award 2005’.

•	 The Ministry of Labour’s ‘Best Practice Award 
for Labour Relations’ (for the 2nd consecutive 
year) and ‘Zero Accident Award’.

•	 The ‘White Factory’ Award under the  
‘To Be Number One’ (anti-narcotics)  
campaign in 2006.

•	 AusCham Thailand’s Business of the Year 
Award 2006’, and ‘Environmental Excellence  
Award 2006’.

Kingsgate maintained its high rating with global 
sustainability ratings agencies, including its ‘A’ 
rating with RepuTex and its high rating with 
the DowJones-SAM AuSSI rating system, both 
established for ASX listed companies. 

The Company has produced its 4th consecutive 
Sustainability Report with a Thai version nearing 
completion for stakeholders and new investors in 
Thailand. Kingsgate is the only miner on the ASX 
currently with an ‘A’ rating or better, except for Rio 
Tinto and BHP.
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Map of Chatree Operations

Chatree
Mine

Expansion 
An expansion is planned to double gold production 
to around 300,000 ounces per year and increase 
annual silver production to around 2 million 
ounces from 350–450,000 ounces at present. 

Ausenco, who constructed the original plant, are 
in the process of completing a full feasibility study 
on the expansion of the processing plant to handle 
5 million tonnes per annum of ore. The crushing 
section of the plant is planned to be duplicated, 
adding grinding mills with a 2.7 million tonne per 
annum additional capacity. Gravity concentration 
circuits will be installed on both parallel grinding 
circuits. A new leach circuit with a modified  
Merrill Crowe circuit will be added to improve 
silver recoveries from around 45% at present 
to around 70%. This is considered to be very 
beneficial since silver grades are 3 to 5 times 
higher at Chatree North A pit than the current 
Chatree pits. The existing cyanide carbon in leach 
circuit will be retained and operated in series to 
handle all production. A new Tailings Storage 
Facility will be added to double capacity and a  
new duplicate substation will be required. 

Industry wide cost increases on capital items 
and lengthened delivery timeframes, especially 
on grinding mills, are expected to substantially 
increase the capital cost above the scoping study 
estimate of early 2005.

The expansion will be predicated on the grant 
of the remaining nine mining leases at Chatree 
North. Good progress was made during the year 
with the submission of the Environmental Impact 
Assessment (EIA) for Chatree North, currently in 
the final stages of assessment by the relevant 
authorities. Once the EIA is formally approved, the 
mining leases applications can proceed through 
the Thai government approval process, although a 
timeframe is difficult to estimate.

Chatree C-H Pit C Pit with A Pit in background



exploration

EXPLORATION delivers 
CONTINUous GROWTH of 1Moz/yr 
in a world class gold province
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A HILL

Chatree North – conceptual view of A Pit and Ore Zones

A EAST

feeder
zone

30m@16.3g/tAu

higher grade
underground

potential

Current A Pit shell at Chatree North showing high grade underground
potential (purple) and open cut (red) wire frames of gold zones

12m@30.0g/tAu
& 318g/t Ag
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Exploration continues to be well funded, at US$7.9 
million in 2005/06 and forecast to be US$11 million in 
2006/07 due to recently granted exploration leases.

EXPLORATION
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Annual Report 2006

Exploration continues to deliver low cost growth in:

•	 Resources & Ore Reserves growth at Chatree/
Chatree North 
–	 with 1Moz/yr resource growth over  

3 years at US$7/oz resource, 
–	 with a 25% increase in Resources to  

3.8Moz gold, 
–	 a 45% increase in the Measured & 

Indicated Resources to 3.2Moz. 

•	 Additional prospects near mine  
discovered with
–	 mineralisation detected over 23 kilometres  

north-south from Chatree. 

•	 New drill ready regional targets 
–	 with one similar in size to Chatree  

(23 square kilometres) within  
25 kilometres of the mine.

Exploration continues to be well funded at 
US$7.9 million in 2005/06 and forecast to be 
US$11 million in 2006/07 due to continuing 
success at Chatree and recently granted 
exploration leases.

The presence of a new world-class gold province 
is being demonstrated in central Thailand.

Chatree/Chatree North
Exploration continued to focus on developing 
resources and ore reserves in the Chatree 
mine area and Chatree North. The Company’s 
significant exploration program achieved 
continuing success and raised the total Company 
Ore Reserves to 1.7 million ounces of gold as at 
31 May 2006, an increase of 22% on  
30 June 2005, including mine depletion. Mineral 
Resources as at 31 May 2006 amounted to over 
3.8 million ounces of gold, compared with  
3.0 million ounces 11 months earlier and 
represents a 25% increase over 2005.

One of the exploration objectives was to improve 
the quality of resources in the Chatree/Chatree 
North area. Eight drill rigs were used to upgrade 
the category of the resources into the Measured 
and Indicated Resource category, necessary 
for Ore Reserve estimation and mine planning 
associated with the planned plant expansion. 

The Measured & Indicated Resource category 
increased 45% to 3.2 million ounces gold. Over 
4.5 million ounces of gold have been defined at 
the Chatree area. 

Kingsgate considers that a world class gold 
system exists at Chatree. Greater than  
5 million ounces gold is the common threshold 
for defining a world class gold deposit. The 
Company’s geologists believe that potential 
exists for up to 10 million ounces gold. The 
geochemical anomaly at Chatree covers  
28 square kilometres and other targets exist with 
a similar size anomaly.

The popular arbitrary threshold is 5 million ounces 
to define a world-class gold deposit. Kingsgate 
geologists believe the potential exists for 10 million 
ounces of gold in the Chatree and nearby region.

Discovery costs continue to be at globally low 
levels of US$7 per resource ounce gold for 
the last three years. Although resources have 
been added at a rapid rate, the limits to the 
mineralisation at Chatree/Chatree North have 
not been reached, with the system open in 
virtually every direction. New discoveries have 

Chatree North - Conceptual View of A Pit and Ore Zones
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been made at various locations north of the 
existing operations and this trend of mineral 
discovery is anticipated to continue for the 
foreseeable future. The gold mineralisation at 
Chatree is closely associated with a ‘resistivity’ 
geophysical signature and exploration work 
has identified this discernable anomaly for 
approximately 23 kilometres in strike length 
north and south of the Chatree operations.

During the past year, the proposed ultimate pit 
shell for the A – A East pit was extended and new 
high grade zones were identified; especially in 
the central part of the proposed A pit at Chatree 
North. High grade gold-silver zones intersected 
at depth in A East have excellent potential to 
develop into underground targets. Best results 
included intersections of 8-12m at over 1 ounce 
per tonne gold and 10-50 ounces per tonne silver. 

Within the current pit at Chatree, new high 
grade zones were identified in the H pit and at 
C North and C South, which are geologically 
continuous and are being assessed for 
underground development. Immediately to the 
west of P pit lies J prospect with some exciting 
surface gold intercepts. Drilling in the Chatree 

pit ensured that new resources more than 
replaced the depleted (mined out) ore.

The exploration focus during 2006/07 will be 
to extend the A pit resource westward in an 
undrilled area on the hill itself, left previously as 
a noise buffer prior to the development of the 
new pit. Near surface high grade results at Q 
prospect will also be followed up, together with 
drill testing east of the planned A pit.

Regional Exploration – Thailand
On 17 August 2006, 51 contiguous exploration 
licences (SPL’s) that surround the Chatree mine 
in the Phichit and Phitsanulok provinces were 
granted. This was the largest block of exploration 
licences ever granted in Thailand. The remaining 
50 exploration licences in Phetchabun province 
are anticipated to be granted shortly. This will 
allow for detailed exploration to commence over 
a large 1500 square kilometre area in the highly 
prospective central gold belt of Thailand where 
several drill ready targets have been identified.

Since applying for these SPL’s almost three 
years ago, Kingsgate’s Thailand subsidiaries have 
been conducting permissible reconnaissance 

exploration including airborne geophysics 
(magnetic, radiometric and resistivity surveys), 
regional stream sediment sampling, rock chip 
sampling and geological mapping. Across the 
three provinces, 40 targets have been identified 
for detailed follow-up, with 30 of those targets 
located by the Kingsgate-Akara team.

The other key exploration focus during 2006/07 
will be to drill-test some of these exciting drill 
ready targets away from the main Chatree system. 

The Chatree Gold Mine has at its disposal 
nine drill rigs of which seven are dedicated 
to exploration, although they are dominantly 
focused near mine. The Company also has 18 
exploration geologists with excellent knowledge 
of the area and is recruiting additional personnel 
to explore the SPL’s. 

One drill ready target has a surface anomaly 
similar to Chatree covering approximately  
23 square kilometres. Other targets have 
potential for significant high grade gold veins.
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Exploration Licences Around Chatree Elsewhere in Thailand, Kingsgate’s first mover 
advantage helps in selecting other priority 
targets for exploration licence applications. 
Fourteen applications were made during the 
year over an area approximately 100 kilometres 
south-east of Bangkok. Sampling has been 
conducted to the north of Chatree towards Loei 
and the Laos border where additional SPLA’s are 
being considered.

South America
Kingsgate has been exploring in Peru, Chile 
and Argentina for over three years seeking low 
sulphidation epithermal gold deposits similar 
to Chatree. Mines have been developed on such 
deposits but most of the exploration emphasis 
traditionally has been for larger, higher grade 
high sulphidation epithermal gold deposits or 
porphyry copper deposits.

Numerous projects have been reviewed for 
potential acquisition or joint venture/farm-in.  
Some leases have been obtained over 
exploration targets with open ground available 
for application in each of the three countries.

One prospect in Northern Chile, near Copiapo, 
underwent a detailed drill program and although 
gold veins were intersected, the leases were 
abandoned due to unsatisfactory results. 
Another project in the high Andes of Peru will 
require substantially more surface exploration 
prior to a decision to drill as access is solely by 
mule or foot. 

The exploration methodology and approach to 
project assessment is currently being reviewed in 
order to maximise cost effectiveness.
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Source Category
Tonnes  

(million tonnes)

Grade Contained Ounces

Gold (g/t) Silver (g/t) Gold (million Oz) Silver (million Oz)

Chatree Mine Total(1) Measured 6.2 1.8 8 0.36 1.65

On Current Lease Indicated 7.5 1.6 7 0.38 1.70

Inferred 4.2 1.7 8 0.23 1.05

Total 17.9 1.7 8 0.96 4.40

Chatree North Total(2) Measured 31.7 1.6 17 1.61 17.03

Indicated 16.7 1.6 14 0.83 7.59

Inferred 6.0 1.5 13 0.29 2.51

Total 54.4 1.6 16 2.74 27.13

Stockpiles 1.2 1.0 5 0.04 0.19

Chatree Total Total 74.6 1.6 13 3.78 31.91

Preliminary pit optimisations at US$450/oz gold indicate a 0.6g/t gold cut-off is appropriate.
The resource block model has been optimised to compensate for the smaller mining blocks based on the operational history of selective mining at Chatree.
Using the September 2005 resource cut-off grade of 0.7g/t, Resources are 3.5Moz gold @1.8g/t & 29Moz silver @15g/t.

Mineral Resources Inclusive of Ore Reserves as at 31 May 2006 (> 0.6g/t Au cut off)

Pit Source Category
Tonnes  

(million tonnes)

Grade Contained Ounces

Gold (g/t) Silver (g/t) Gold (million Oz) Silver (million Oz)

Current Chatree Leases (1,3) Proved 1.7 1.7 8 0.09 0.41

Probable 2.3 2.1 8 0.17 0.60

Sub-total 4.0 2.0 8 0.26 1.01

Chatree North(2,4) Proved 19.4 1.8 19 1.10 12.00

Probable 5.1 1.8 17 0.30 2.80

Sub-total 24.5 1.8 19 1.40 14.80

Total from Pits Proved 21.1 1.8 18 1.19 12.41

Probable 7.4 1.9 14 0.47 3.50

Total 28.5 1.8 17 1.66 15.90

Stockpiles 1.2 1.0 5 0.04 0.20

Kingsgate Total Total 29.7 1.8 17 1.70 16.10

Notes:
Some rounding of figures may cause numbers not to add correctly.
(1) Includes C, H, D, HS, HW, S and P pits at Chatree Mine cut to the May 2006 surface.
(2) Includes A, AE, Q, KW and KE at Chatree North.
(3) Chatree Mine Lease Notes.
	 a) Based on a composite of the current design and ‘H main’ and ‘C south’ cut backs & the ‘C North’ underground.
	 b) Based on a $US600/oz gold price and $US11/oz silver price, only at Chatree mine.
	 c) Assumes the remaining contained gold can be forward sold in the medium term.
	 d) �Reserves exclude the highway 1301 corridor and some underground options. The September 2005 statement included open pit reserves in the highway corridor which 

have now been excluded.
	 e) �Mining costs on average have increased from $US1.07/t to $1.45/t based on updated assessments of long term fuel costs, consumables, mining contract costs (including 

drill and blast) and geotechnical services.
	 f) Expected increases to mining & processing costs have been allowed for in the optimisation parameters.
(4) Chatree North Notes 
	 a) Based on a three year average gold price of $US450/oz and a silver price of $US11/oz.
	 b) Based on modified optimum pit shells including haul road allowance in the slopes, long term fuel, consumables, and mining contract prices.
	 c) Reserves have been truncated at the highway 1301 corridor, which has resulted in a reduction of certain reserves contained within the 30 September 2005 announcement.
 

Ore Reserves as at 31 May 2006 (>0.7g/t Au cut off) 

Chatree Gold Mine Ore Reserve Reconciliation

Ore Reserves (Oz Gold) at 30 June 2005 Mined until 31 May 2006 Discoveries Ore Reserves (Oz Gold) at 31 May 2006 Increase %

1,505,000 (136,000) 331,000 1,700,000 22

Information in this report that relates to geology, drilling, mineralisation and Mineral Resource estimates is based on information compiled by Rob Spiers, Ron James and Mike 
Garman who are Competent Persons under the meaning of the JORC Code with respect to the mineralisation being reported on. These interim estimates are unaudited by 
an independent expert. All the joint authors of the Mineral Resource Statement are employees of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All have 
given their consent to the Public Reporting of these statements concerning geology, drilling and mineralisation in this format.

MINERAL RESOURCES AND ORE RESERVES



Kingsgate’s record number of award 
winning sustainability initiatives 
demonstrate the company’s 
commitment to World Best Practice

SUSTAINABILILTY
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Kingsgate conducts its operations to the 
highest standards and with due regard for the 
economic, social, governance and environmental 
considerations for the benefit of all stakeholders. 
The Company strives to achieve a ‘model mine for 
a model future.’

Highlights for 2006
Kingsgate maintained its excellent safety record, 
strengthened its environmental practices and 
completed a number of community  
development projects. 

The annual external environmental audit 
confirmed that the mine continues to operate 
to high standards and in compliance with its 
statutory requirements. 

Environmental performance under the Mineral 
Council of Australia’s ‘Enduring Value’ was 
assessed with favourable results. ‘Enduring Value’ 
is a Sustainable Development Framework for the 
mining industry which fosters the implementation 
of a range of environmental, economic and  
social initiatives.

The Company became a founding signatory of the 
International Cyanide Management Code for  
the safe use, handling and storage of cyanide,  
placing us among the largest of our peer group  
mining companies.

Safety performance at Chatree was outstanding 
with no lost time injuries for the entire year. On 
the basis of publicly available mine safety records 
in Australia and North America, Chatree is believed 
to be safest metallurgical mining operation in  
the world.

Community development programs continued 
with assistance to local villages, construction of 
two new schools and support of local cultural 
activities. Community relations activities were 
restructured with plans to devolve some aspects 
to a Thai NGO.

External Ratings and Awards
Kingsgate is the only gold mining company on 
the ASX to be included in the RepuTex Social 
Responsibility Investment (SRI) Index launched 
in August 2005 and achieved an A rating. The 
RepuTex SRI Index comprises 44 companies 
from the S&P/ASX 300 Index. The rating is an 
assessment of the extent to which an organisation 
is performing in a socially responsible manner 
and managing its social risk exposures in terms 
of corporate governance, environmental impact, 
social impact and workplace practices.

Kingsgate is the only Australian mining company 
to be included and have an A rating or higher, 
apart from the two major mining groups, BHP 
Billiton and Rio Tinto. It is rated similarly to 
large Australian companies such as Wesfarmers, 
Woodside and OneSteel and international 
companies such as Kodak, Michelin and Reuters.

Also Kingsgate is one of four gold companies 
included in the Zurich based SAM Group 
Australian Sustainability Index, which is 
affiliated with the DowJones Sustainability 
ratings, that considers companies listed on  
the S&P/ASX 200 Index that outperform in 
relation to economic, environmental and  
social considerations.

Akara, the Thai operating company, also 
achieved several major awards for its 
performance including: 

•	 The Prime Minister’s ‘Best Practice Award for 
Employee Welfare’ 2003, 2004, 2005, 2006.

•	 The ‘National Occupational Health & Safety and 
Environment Award’ 2005.

•	 The Ministry of Labour ‘Best Practice Award for 
Labour Relations’ 2005, 2006.

•	 The Ministry of Labour ‘Zero Accident  
Award’ 2006.

•	 The Department of Primary Industries and 
Mines 2005 Standard Award – Mining Category 
and Metallurgy Category. Akara is the only 
company to have won both categories.

•	 The ‘White Factory’ Award in the ‘To Be Number 
One’ (anti-narcotics) campaign in 2006.

•	 The ‘Business of the Year 2006’ Award by  
AusCham Thailand.

•	 The ‘Environmental Excellence 2006‘ Award by 
AusCham Thailand.

Attaining these awards recognises the 
commitment of our workforce and confirms 
that Chatree operates at the highest standards 
comparable with mining operations anywhere 
in the world. 

Global Reporting Initiative (GRI)
Enduring Value is aligned with the principles of 
the Global Reporting Initiative and signatories 
are required to report against a number of 
GRI indices. In 2006, Kingsgate committed to 
report against the full list of GRI indices and 
our Sustainability Report shows our progress 
to date. We will progressively report against all 
the indices over time through a variety of media 
including this and other public Sustainability 
Reports, Kingsgate’s Annual and Financial 
Reports and the Company web site. 

People
As at 30 June 2006, the Chatree mine had 265 
employees, exploration 86 employees, plus 572 
long term contractors. 99% of the workforce 
were Thai nationals. Kingsgate employs 22 
geologists and 64 associated permanent and 
temporary staff engaged in mine site and 
regional exploration throughout Thailand. The 
contractor workforce increased by 23% in 
2006 due to longer waste haulage distances 
and construction activities associated with the 
raising of the Tailings Storage Facility. 

Kingsgate is the only gold mining company on 
the ASX to be included in the RepuTex Social 
Responsibility Investment (SRI) Index and  
achieved an A rating.

SUSTAINABILITY
www.kingsgate.com.au
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Where possible, local community members are 
employed preferentially and local contractors are 
commissioned to undertake work at the mine 
or on exploration tenements. The local farmers 
are relatively poor and their children are often 
forced to seek employment away from home in 
Bangkok. The Chatree operation offers alternative 
employment opportunities and regional economic 
advancement, and it helps reduce migration to 
urban areas. The Company has a policy to improve 
the quality of life for women workers who 
comprise approximately 13% of the workforce 
and 20% of the senior management team. Local 
contractors carry out open pit mining, as well as 
providing employee transport, cooking and eating 
facilities, security and other services.

Akara has applied for certification of the Chatree 
operation to the Thai Labour Standard (TLS 
8001) and is awaiting a certification audit. The 
Standard provides for labour protection, welfare, 
employee relations and health and safety, as well 
as the Conventions of the International Labour 
Organisation and United Nations.

Workforce in 2006

Chatree Employees

Local Thai employees 192

Other Thai nationals 65

Expatriates – Chatree mine 8

Total Chatree employees 265

Contractors 572

Exploration – Thai national 84

Exploration – Expatriate 2

Total workforce 923

99% of workforce are Thai nationals

Safety Performance
Safety in the workplace is integral to Chatree’s 
operational and sustainability policies and the 
mine strives for an incident free environment 
for all employees and contractors. Chatree has 
developed appropriate policies, codes, procedures 
and ongoing training to help maintain an accident 
free work place. 

All staff and contractors are required to complete 
the Site Safety and Environment Induction before 
working on the mine site. All employees are re-
inducted on an annual basis and undergo further 
training in relation to their specific occupations. 

The excellent safety performance of previous years 
continued in 2006 and Chatree has worked more 
than seven million hours with only one lost time 
injury up to 30 June 2006. For the year ended 30 
June 2006, the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 
(LTIFR) was 0 compared with an industry average of 
4.0 for Australian open cut mines (Minerals Council 
of Australia statistics). The mine has achieved an 
injury rate in the lowest quartile of international 
safety statistics since start-up and, on the basis of 
publicly available safety records (including the North 
American Mining Industry), is believed to be the 
safest metallurgical mining operation in the world. 

Training and Development
Since commencing operations, the mine has 
implemented an extensive range of training 
programs for its employees. The programs 
have been enormously successful as evidenced 
by the safety, environmental and operational 
performance of the mine. Performance in all 
aspects of the operation has been comparable 
with Australian mines and is a credit to the 
inherent skills and diligence of the Thai people.

The mine has provided basic training in all aspects 
of the operation but also in other areas such as 
risk assessment, first aid, fire fighting, chemical 
safety and emergency response. Specific courses 
are provided in Cross Cultural Management, 
Assertiveness and Accountability, Performance 
Management and Team Building.

In 2006 Chatree employees attended a range of 
short courses/workshops/conferences in Thailand, 
Laos, Indonesia, India and Australia as well as 
assisting in exploration activities in Peru and Chile. 
The courses covered areas such as environmental 
management, sustainable development, logistics, 
grade control, risk assessment, health and safety, 
mineral resource estimation and exploration. 

Chatree has an Educational Assistance Program 
which encourages employees to take job-
related courses thus developing their skills and 
potential for promotion, and improving their 
productivity. Chatree is currently sponsoring 
eight employees for a Master of Business 
Administration, one for a Master of Computer 
Science and one for a Doctorate in Geology. 
Three employees have graduated from the 
Chatree sponsored MBA program.

Economic Contribution
Kingsgate continues to support local business 
development and promote a ‘Buy Thai’ policy. 
Since commencing operations we have proactively 
sourced more of our goods and services from 
Thailand in preference to importing them from 
Australia and other countries. More than 80% of 
our warehouse items are sourced from  
within Thailand.

We have continued to assess ways of enhancing 
the value of our operations in Thailand for the 
benefit of both countries and we are committed to 
a long term partnership with Thailand to develop 
the country’s gold resources. We expect to finalise 
a divestment option by November 2006, which 
will bring Thai investors into the project as an 
interim measure prior to an IPO on the Thai stock 
exchange in 2–3 years time.

Substantial payments are made in the form of 
wages, taxes, royalties, goods and services all of 
which have a major benefit on the local economy.

We have continued to assess ways of enhancing 
the value of our operations in Thailand for the 
benefit of both countries and we are committed to 
a long term partnership with Thailand to develop 
the country’s gold resources.



  Expenditure by Region US$M 

In 2006, Chatree spent US$40.9 million on 
goods and services of which 19% was spent in 
local provinces and a further 67% in the rest of 
Thailand. In addition, US$1.50 million was paid in 
royalties and US$0.8 million in taxes and duties. 

To date the total investment in Thailand is 
approximately $170 million. A major part of 
this investment is our extensive exploration and 
evaluation programs that total nearly $70 million. 
In 2006, the Company invested $15 million in 
exploration and evaluation, with a similar amount 
to be invested in the forthcoming year. We have 
commenced development of the A pit at Chatree 
North and regard the Chatree region as a potential 
new world class gold province. We hold a large 
and highly prospective land package, either as 
granted exploration licences or as applications 
for exploration, with the potential to host further 
mineral fields similar in scale to Chatree.

The multiplier benefits to the Thai economy have 
been estimated to be 3 to 6 times greater than the 
direct investment, with over 2000 people gaining 
benefit from the mine’s activities apart from direct 
employees and contractors.

Environmental Management
Kingsgate is committed to best practice 
environmental management in all aspects of 
the operation and has implemented standards 
and policies that provide the highest degree of 
protection for employees and the environment. 

Chatree mine’s Environmental Management 
System (EMS) is accredited as achieving the 
ISO 14001 standard. The EMS describes the 
organisational structure, responsibilities, practices, 
processes and resources for implementing and 
maintaining environmental management. 

The Environmental Management Plan (EMP) 
facilitates compliance with relevant licences, 
legislation and targets for the site. It outlines 
specific procedures to aid the implementation of 
the EMP, such as revegetation trials and waste rock 
emplacement trials and contains specific plans for 
water management and waste management. 

Mining operations at Chatree are controlled by 
the approved Environmental Impact Assessment 
(EIA) which found that there were no protected 
or biodiversity-rich areas within the proposed 
area of operation, no wetlands of international 
significance, endangered flora or fauna or other 
areas of ecological significance. The region had 
been cleared for many years of original vegetation 
and is now predominantly used for farming and 
rice growing.

The Company has completed and continues to 
research revegetation and tree plantings, useful 
local flora species, acid drainage prevention, and 
groundwater modelling and recharge. Post mining 
land use options are being tested to determine 
possible final land use types. The options along with 
3D models of post mining land forms are being 
presented to local stakeholders for their input.

Climate Change and Greenhouse  
Gas Emissions
Thailand ratified the United Nations Framework 
Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in 
December 1994 and the Kyoto Protocol in 
August 2002.

Kingsgate acknowledges that climate change 
is a real international and community concern. 
We support and endorse various initiatives for 
voluntary actions consistent with international 
initiatives on climate change. Kingsgate strives 
to minimise environmental impacts and uses 
the best available technologies to promote 
energy efficiency and minimise greenhouse  
gas emissions. 

At Chatree, the mine has introduced a range of 
initiatives to save energy and reduce emissions. 
These include introducing a site Energy 
Conservation Policy, forming a Power Smart 
Committee to evaluate new energy saving 
initiatives and promoting energy management 
to all employees and contractors.

Emissions to air are produced from electricity use 
and the consumption of diesel fuel from mining 
operations. The major consumer of electricity 
is the processing plant, with minor amounts 
associated with various administrative activities.

Auditing and Review
Chatree carries out a comprehensive 
environmental auditing and review program to 
assess compliance with licence conditions, relevant 
legislation, EMS objectives and best practice 
environmental management. The program is based 
on regular internal and external environmental 
audits. These audits are regarded as key feedback 
and quality control mechanisms that facilitate 
continual improvement of environmental 
management programs and systems. A summary 
of Chatree’s environmental audit program is 
shown in the table on the following page. 
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 Thailand - local provinces 7.6
 Thailand - other provinces 27.4
 Australia 5.1
 Other overseas 0.8

Total US$40.9M

2%

18.5%

67%

12.5%
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 Audit Type Audit Scope Auditor Frequency

Internal environmental 
audit

Compliance with environmental management 
objectives and plans

Chatree Internal Audit Team Quarterly and 
annually 

External environmental 
compliance audit

Compliance with licence conditions, applicable 
laws in Thailand and the Chatree Gold Mine 
Environmental Policy

Independent Australian  
environmental consultant

Annual

Minerals Council  
of Australia

Compliance with the Australian Mineral Industry’s 
Code for Enduring Value

Independent Australian  
environmental consultant

Annual

ISO 9001 
certification audit

Compliance of Quality Assurance Program with  
ISO 9001

External independent international 
Certification Auditors

Semi annual

ISO 14001  
certification audit

Compliance of the Chatree Gold Mine Environmental 
Management System (EMS) with ISO 14001

External independent international 
Certification Auditors

Semi annual

OHSAS 18001  
certification audit

Compliance of the Chatree Gold Mine Safety 
Management System (SMS) with OHSAS 18001

External independent international 
Certification Auditors

Semi annual

Monthly reports are provided to the Kingsgate 
Board of Directors to ensure regular review of  
management strategies and potential 
environmental impacts. The Board ensures further 
checks and balances by commissioning an annual 
independent environmental audit of the  
Chatree operations.

The annual independent environmental audit 
of the operation was conducted early in 2006, 
following the submission to the Thai authorities 
of the annual environmental monitoring report. 
The independent audit consisted of an assessment 
of compliance with licence requirements and the 
practicality, relevance and performance of specific 
environmental management strategies. 

Community Development
Chatree contributes to a wide range of community 
initiatives which seek to strengthen relationships 
with stakeholders and lead to improvements in the 
quality of life of local communities and introduce 
sustainable benefits and activities. Following 
the installation of a reliable water supply to two 
local villages last year, the Company funded the 

construction of two schools and educational 
facilities in the two villages close to the mine. 
Chatree management encourages participation 
in local community events and supports a wide 
range of community and cultural activities 
including local festivals, national family days and 
monk leave for young male employees.

Chatree’s community development program 
provides a range of opportunities for direct and 
indirect employment, increased access to health 
and education, construction of roads and water 
delivery infrastructure, sporting infrastructure, 
and financial contributions to local communities 
through religious centres and sporting events. 

Akara Mining Limited promotes education 
through the sponsorship of educational programs 
in local schools, providing scholarships to local 
students going on to further education, providing 
educational assistance to employees and hiring 
students as part of their school training program. 
In 2006 Akara also funded the building of new 
schools at Ban Khao Din and Ban Dong Long.  
The schools were opened on National Children’s 

Day in a special ceremony attended by provincial 
and local government officials, community leaders, 
teachers and children. 

It is important that new community development 
activities are well-researched and culturally 
appropriate for Thailand. In 2004/05, two 
consultants were engaged to analyse and advise 
on how best practice community development 
activities may be implemented at Akara in a way 
which is suited to the local community. Research 
included interviews with key Thai personnel, 
community and provincial leaders.

Current regional development goals at the 
provincial level were examined and Thai best 
practice examples of community development 
explored. Key Thai personnel undertook a site visit 
to a leading Thai resources company renowned for 
its community development initiatives and initial 
meetings have been held with Thai community 
development specialist organisations regarding 
collaboration in this area. 

Summary of Chatree’s Environmental Audit Program

Akara promotes education through the sponsorship 
of educational programs in local schools, 
providing scholarships to local students, providing 
educational assistance to employees and hiring 
students as part of their school training program.



Corporate Governance 
statement

Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and the Board are 
committed to achieving and demonstrating the 
highest standards of corporate governance.
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Kingsgate Consolidated Limited (the Company) 
and the Board are committed to achieving and 
demonstrating the highest standards of corporate 
governance. The Company’s framework is largely 
consistent with the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council’s “Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance and Best Practice Recommendations”. 
The Board continues to review the framework 
and practices to ensure they meet the interests 
of shareholders. The Company and its controlled 
entities together are referred to as the Group or 
Consolidated Entity in this statement.

The relationship between the Board and senior 
management is critical to the Group’s long 
term success. The Directors are responsible to 
shareholders for the performance of the Company 
in both the short and the long term and seek to 
balance sometimes competing objectives in the 
best interests of the Group as a whole. The focus 
of the Directors is to enhance the interests of 
shareholders and other key stakeholders and to 
ensure the Group is properly managed.

Day to day management of the Group’s affairs 
and the implementation of the corporate strategy 
and policy initiatives are formally delegated by the 
Board to the Chief Executive Officer and senior 
executives as set out in the Group’s delegations 
policy. These delegations are reviewed on an 
annual basis. 

This Corporate Governance statement  
outlines the key components of Kingsgate’s 
governance framework.

Shareholders
Shareholders play an important part in the 
governance of the Group by electing the Board, 
whose task it is to govern on their behalf. In 
carrying out this role, the Board recognises that 
shareholders must receive timely and relevant 
information of the highest standard. The Board 
oversees the protocols for investor and media 
relations with a view to facilitating an efficient, 
competitive and informed market.

The Company’s Board of Directors is accountable to 
shareholders for the proper and prudent investment 
and preservation of shareholder funds.

Kingsgate is a publicly listed entity on the 
Australian Stock Exchange and is subject to 
continuous disclosure obligations. In general 
terms, these obligations require the Company to 
notify the market immediately of any information 
which a reasonable person would expect to have 
a material effect on, or lead to a substantial 
movement in, the price or value of its securities.

In order to meet these objectives and satisfy 
regulatory requirements, the Board provides 
information to shareholders and the market in 
several ways:

•	 Significant announcements are released 
directly to the market via the Australian 
Stock Exchange and are placed on the 
Company web site. 

•	 The Kingsgate web site (www.kingsgate.com.au) 
contains further information about the Group 
and its activities, including Annual, Interim and 
Quarterly Reports, and media presentations.

•	 From time to time, investment briefings 
are conducted in order to promote a better 
understanding of the Group.

•	 Site visits are also arranged to give those 
who advise investors a better understanding 
of the Group’s operating facilities and 
exploration prospects.

•	 The Annual General Meeting provides an 
opportunity for the Board to communicate 
with investors directly.

Details of the members of the Board, their 
experience, expertise, qualifications, term of 
office and independent status are set out in the 
Directors’ Report under the heading “Information 
on Directors”.

Directors have a broad range of business, financial, 
technical and international experience. This gives 
the Directors the range of skills, knowledge, 
and experience necessary to govern the Group, 
including an understanding of the health, safety, 
environmental and community-related issues that 
it faces.

Directors are not appointed for a fixed term 
but are subject to re-election by shareholders, 
at least every three years, in accordance with 
the Constitution of the Company. Shareholders 
are also required to ratify, at the next Annual 
General Meeting, the appointment of any Director 
appointed throughout the year to fill a vacancy. 

The Board’s Nomination Committee is responsible 
for considering the re-nomination of retiring 
Directors, having regard to the contribution 
of their skills and experience to the desired 
composition of the Board.
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Name Appointed Non-Executive Independent Retiring in 2006 Seeking re-election 
in 2006

Ross Smyth-Kirk 1994 Yes Yes No N/A

John Falconer 1995 Yes Yes No N/A

Peter McAleer 2000 Yes Yes Yes Yes

Composition of the Board of Directors
Under the Corporations Act 2001, the minimum number of Directors the Company must have is 
three, two of whom must ordinarily reside in Australia.

The Board currently has 3 non-executive members, including the Chairman.  
The names of the Directors in office and their relevant details are outlined below.
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Independence of  
Non-Executive Directors
The Board has considered the independence of 
the 3 non-executive Directors and considers all 
of them to be independent of management and 
free from any business or other relationships that 
could materially interfere with the exercise of their 
independent judgment. 

In the context of Director independence, 
“materiality” is considered from both the 
Company and individual Director perspective. The 
determination of materiality requires consideration 
of both quantitative and qualitative elements. An 
item is presumed to be quantitatively immaterial 
if it is equal to or less than 5% of the appropriate 
base amount. It is presumed to be material (unless 
there is qualitative evidence to the contrary) if it 
is equal to or greater than 10% of the appropriate 
base amount. Qualitative factors considered 
include whether a relationship is strategically 
important, the competitive landscape, the nature 
of the relationship and the contractual or other 
arrangements governing it and other factors 
which point to the actual ability of the Director  
in question to shape the direction of the  
Company’s loyalty.

Role of the Board
The Company’s Board of Directors is accountable 
to shareholders for the proper and prudent 
investment and preservation of shareholder funds. 
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
are separated and clearly defined. The Chairman 
leads the Board and is responsible for ensuring 
the effectiveness of governance practices. He is 
also responsible for the conduct of Board and 
shareholder meetings. 

Responsibility for the operations of the Company 
is delegated to the Chief Executive Officer who 
manages the Company within the policies set by 
the Board of Directors. The levels of authority for 
management are also documented.

The Board has also delegated some of its 
responsibilities to committees. Directors have 
the right, in connection with their duties and 
responsibilities as Directors, to seek independent 
professional advice at the Company’s expense. 
Prior written approval of the Chairman is required, 
which will not be unreasonably withheld. A copy 
of the advice is to be provided to all Directors.

There are a number of matters that the Board is 
specifically responsible for. These include setting 
the strategic direction of the Company, the 
appointment of key senior executives, approval 
of the financial accounts and environmental 
reports, approval of financial policies and the 
budget, and overall review of operating results, 
risk management, remuneration levels, succession 
planning and significant capital expenditure. The 
Board is also responsible for appointment of the 
external auditors.

Board Meetings
There are 10 scheduled Board meetings each 
year with further ad hoc meetings held as and 
when required. The Board combines a visit to the 
Chatree Gold Mine with a Board meeting regularly. 
Individual Directors are encouraged to visit the 
mine at their discretion.

The Board receives monthly reports on the 
Group’s activities and undertakes a full review 
of them when setting the annual budgets and 
approving strategic plans for future years. In 
addition, the Board receives specific reports and 
presentations on items of special interest either 
on a regular basis or as requested. Briefings by 
senior management are a regular feature at 
Board meetings.

Audit Committee
The Board has established an Audit Committee, 
which is comprised entirely of independent  
non-executive Directors. The committee is chaired 
by John Falconer, the other members being  
Ross Smyth-Kirk and Peter McAleer.

In addition, the Chief Financial Officer and the 
partner responsible for the Company’s external 
audit attend the meetings.

The Audit Committee’s primary functions are to:

•	 Review the financial information provided by 
the Board to shareholders and other parties and 
ensure that it is true and fair and complies with 
relevant accounting standards.

•	 Ensure that corporate risk management policies 
and internal controls are in place and are 
maintained in accordance with appropriate 
standards and statutory requirements.

•	 Oversee and evaluate the quality of the audits 
conducted by the external auditors.

•	 Provide for open communication between 
the external auditors and the Board for the 
exchange of views and information.

•	 Recommend to the Board the nomination and 
remuneration of the external auditors and 
ensure their independence and integrity.

•	 Oversee the Company’s transition to 
International Financial Reporting  
Standards (IFRS).

As appropriate, the committee reports to the 
Board on all matters relating to the Company’s 
financial affairs.

The Board has adopted a policy relating to 
auditor independence. The policy requires the 
external auditors to confirm that they have 
maintained their independence in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001 and the rules 
of professional accounting bodies. The policy 
also specifies obligations regarding employment 
relationships, financial relationships and provision 
of non-audit services by the auditors. In particular, 
management consultancy, IT implementation 
and specialist internal audit work will not be 
performed by the external auditor. 



Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is comprised of 
independent non-executive Directors, with  
Ross Smyth-Kirk as Chairman, John Falconer and 
Peter McAleer as members.

The Nomination Committee supports and advises 
the Board in fulfilling its responsibility to ensure 
that it comprises individuals who are best able to 
discharge the responsibilities of Directors, having 
regard to the law and the highest standards of 
governance, by:

•	 Assessing the skills required on the Board.

•	 Reviewing the structure, size and composition 
of the Board.

•	 From time to time assessing the extent to 
which the required skills are represented 
on the Board and ensuring appropriate 
succession planning is in place.

•	 Oversee annual performance assessment 
program.

•	 Prepare and evaluate for the identification of 
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board.

When a Board vacancy exists or where it is 
considered that a Director with particular skills or 
experience is required, the Board selects a panel 
of candidates with the appropriate expertise 
and experience from which the most suitable 
candidate is appointed on merit. This ensures 
that the Board continues to have an appropriate 
balance of skills and experience.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is comprised of 
independent non-executive Directors, with  
Ross Smyth-Kirk as Chairman, John Falconer and 
Peter McAleer as members. The committee has 
the right to seek any information it considers 
necessary to fulfil its duties, including the right 
to obtain appropriate external advice at the 
Group’s expense.

The Remuneration Committee supports and 
advises the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities to 
shareholders by:

•	 Recommending to the Board, with the Chief 
Executive Officer, an appropriate executive 
remuneration policy.

•	 Determining the remuneration of Directors.

•	 Reviewing and approving the remuneration 
of those reporting directly to the Chief 
Executive Officer, and other senior executives, 
as appropriate.

•	 Reviewing all equity-based plans for approval 
by the Board.

Share Ownership and Dealing
Directors and Officers who wish to buy or 
sell Company shares are required to notify 
the Chairman prior to dealing in such shares. 
Directors and Officers are prohibited from 
short-term trading of the Company’s shares 
or trading shares while in possession of price 
sensitive information. Subject to the foregoing, 
Directors and Officers may buy or sell shares in 
the Company in the four week period following 
significant announcements by the Company, 
including the release of the quarterly report, half 
yearly results, the preliminary annual results and 
the lodgement of the Annual Report. At all other 
times the Board must receive prior notice of 
transactions, which are subject to Board veto.
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Operational and financial risks are regularly 
reviewed by the Board and appropriate risk 
management strategies considered.
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Any dealings in Kingsgate shares are reported 
to the Board at its next meeting. The Australian 
Stock Exchange is notified of any share dealing by 
Directors within the applicable time limit.

Internal Control and Risk Management
The Board has overall responsibility for the 
Group’s systems of internal control. These systems 
are designed to ensure effective and efficient 
operations, including financial reporting and 
compliance with laws and regulations, with a view 
to managing the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives. It must be recognised that internal 
control systems can provide only reasonable and 
not absolute assurance against the risk of  
material loss.

Areas of operational and financial risks are 
regularly reviewed by the Board and appropriate 
risk management strategies considered. The 
risk, control and reporting profiles are evaluated 
and presented to the Board, together with a 
risk improvement program designed to improve 
controls and better manage the overall level of 
risk. The Company has implemented and received 
accreditation for ISO 9001:2000 on Quality 
Control, ISO 14001 on Environmental matters and 
ISO 18001 on Occupational Health and Safety. In 
addition, the Company became a signatory to the 
International Cyanide Management Code for the 
safe use, handling and storage of cyanide.

Kingsgate actively manages its exposure to 
movements in the gold price and foreign 
currency exchange rates through the use of 
hedging instruments. The principal objective 
in managing revenue risk is to minimise the 
downward price exposure associated with 
volatile markets while endeavouring as far 
as possible to preserve the opportunity to 
participate in upward price movements.

Regular reports are provided to the Board in the 
areas of financial exposures, health, safety and 
environmental matters.

The Company formed a strategic Thai-based 
advisory committee of experienced business 
people who are in regular contact with the Board 

and senior management. The committees focus is 
to provide strategic direction and guidance for the 
Company in Thailand.

Kingsgate also operates a company-wide 
risk management program which provides a 
systematic approach to assessing and addressing 
its risks and opportunities for improvement. 
This program complements and strengthens 
other existing risk management initiatives. It 
aims to improve the Company’s bottom line 
through reduced loss and better management 
of retained risk, and through reduced insurance 
premiums. Major proposals submitted to the Board 
for consideration must be accompanied by a 
comprehensive risk assessment and management’s 
proposed mitigation strategies.

External Auditors
The Audit Committee policy is to appoint external 
auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and 
independence. The performance of the external 
auditor is reviewed annually and applications for 
tender of external audit services are requested as 
deemed appropriate, taking into consideration 
assessment of performance, existing value and 
tender costs. PricewaterhouseCoopers were 
appointed as the external auditors in May 1989. 
It is PricewaterhouseCoopers’ policy to rotate 
audit engagement partners on listed companies at 
least every five years, and in accordance with that 
policy a new audit partner will be engaged for the 
2006/07 audit.

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, 
including a break-down of fees for non-audit 
services, is provided in the Director’s Report. It is 
the policy of the external auditors to provide an 
annual declaration of their independence to the 
Audit Committee.

The external auditor is requested to attend the 
Annual General Meeting and be available to 
answer shareholder questions about the conduct 
of the audit and the preparation and content of 
the audit report.

Social and Environmental Responsibility
Kingsgate is committed to meeting high standards 
of compliance with respect to its health, safety, 
environmental and community responsibilities as 
these are integral to the way in which the Group 
conducts its business.

Kingsgate is subject to significant environmental 
regulation with respect to its exploration and 
mining activities. Kingsgate is a signatory to 
the Australian Mineral Industry’s Code for 
Environmental Management. The annual external 
environmental audit confirmed that the mine 
continues to operate to high standards and  
in compliance with its statutory requirements. 
Environmental performance under the  
MCA’s ‘Enduring Value’ was assessed with 
favourable results.

The Company has developed an effective 
Environmental Management Systems (EMS) which 
has ISO 14001 certification.

Reviews of the Company’s environmental 
performance have included:

•	 External regulatory inspections at the operating 
site and exploration areas;

•	 Internal area inspections at these operations.

•	 An annual review of these sites by an  
external consultant.

In accordance with the Code, a Sustainability 
Report is issued by the Group on an annual basis 
covering the areas of health, safety, environmental 
and community responsibilities. 

Kingsgate Code of Conduct
The Group has established a Code of Conduct 
which provides an ethical and legal framework 
for all employees in the conduct of Kingsgate’s 
business. The Code of Conduct defines how 
Kingsgate relates to its customers, employees, 
shareholders and the community in which  
it operates.
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Senior Management 

Gavin Thomas, B Sc (Geology), F AusIMM, CP, Chief Executive Officer, 55

Gavin has had a successful career in developing mining companies from the exploration phase into 
mid-tier gold and/or copper production entities. He has over 34 years of international experience 
in exploring for, evaluating, developing, operating and reclaiming mines in North America, South 
America, Australia, the Southwest Pacific, Asia and Europe. Amongst other things he was credited 
with the discovery of the Lihir gold deposit in Papua New Guinea, the largest gold deposit in the 
world. In particular he has extensive experience in Thailand and South America. 

Stephen Promnitz, B Sc (Hons), Corporate Development Manager, 41
Stephen Promnitz has extensive experience across the resources sector in acquisitions, investment 
banking, equity analysis, corporate finance, corporate management, project management, mining and 
exploration geology. Prior to working for Citigroup and Westpac, he spent over 15 years with WMC 
Resources, Rio Tinto and Placer Dome, including a global brief as Manager-Acquisitions for WMC. He 
spent six years in South America, mainly in Argentina as Country Manager for WMC and Commercial 
and Exploration Manager. Prior to South America, he worked in exploration for precious and base 
metals in Papua New Guinea, SE Asia and Australia. He joined Kingsgate in August 2005 to cover 
business development, investor relations and commercial activities.

Peter Warren, B Com, CPA, Chief Financial Officer, 56

Peter joined Kingsgate in March 2006 as Chief Financial Officer and is a CPA of 30 years standing. 
Prior to this Peter was company secretary and CFO of Equatorial Mining and the Australian 
subsidiaries of the Swiss based Alusuisse group. Peter has had extensive involvement in the resources 
industry, having previously held various financial and accounting positions for Peabody Resources and 
Hamersley Iron.

Phil MacIntyre, B Sc (Hons), F AusIMM, MCIM, SME, Chief Operating Officer and GM-Akara Mining 
Limited, 54

Phil has over 30 years of mine operations experience in Canada, Papua New Guinea, Australia 
and Thailand. He joined Kingsgate as the General Manager of Chatree Gold Mine in July 2001. He 
has a metallurgical background and was the Mine General Manager at the Kidston Gold Mine in 
Queensland, Australia prior to joining Kingsgate. Prior to Kidston, Phil was Mill Superintendent at the 
Porgera Joint Venture in Papua New Guinea and at the Royal Oak Giant Mine, Westmin Resources 
Myra Falls Mine and Premier Gold Project and others in Canada. 

Ron James, B Sc (Geology), M AusIMM, M AIG, M SEG, GM-Exploration & Resource Development, 48

Ron has 24 years of experience with equal time in exploration and mining at management 
level. Before joining Kingsgate he was Chief Mine Geologist at the Gold Ridge mine in the 
Solomon Islands and later Group Exploration Manager for Ross Mining NL. Ron is familiar with 
the technical and operating requirements for emerging projects in a variety of terrains and 
environments. He has broad experience setting up gold mines and exploration projects from their 
earliest stages through to development and sustainability. Ron has a strong focus on maximising 
returns from ore bodies through optimum waste and ore classification as well as increasing 
reserves from near mine resource development.
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The Group has established a Code of Conduct which 
provides an ethical and legal framework for all 
employees in the conduct of Kingsgate’s business.

The underlying principles of the Code are the 
values of integrity, respect, trust and openness.

The Code provides clear directions on conducting 
business internationally, interacting with 
governments, communities and business partners 
and general workplace behaviour. The Code 
provides a common behavioural framework for 
all employees in the context of a wide range of 
ethical and legal issues. Employees are encouraged 
to take responsibility for their actions, achieve high 
performance, deliver on commitments and earn 
the trust of those with whom they interact.

Gavin Thomas Stephen Promnitz Peter Warren Phil MacIntyre Ron James
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Your Directors present their report on the Group consisting of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during,  
the year ended 30 June 2006. 

Directors

The following persons were Directors of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this report:

Ross Smyth-Kirk (Chairman) 
John Falconer (Company Secretary) 
Peter McAleer

Principal Activities

The principal continuing activities of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited was mining in Thailand and mineral exploration in Thailand, Chile and Peru. Exploration 
has also commenced in Argentina. There have been no other significant changes in the principal activities of the Group during the financial year. 

Dividends

Dividends paid to members during the financial year were as follows:

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Final 2005 unfranked dividend of 5 cents per share (2004 – 12 cents) paid on 27 September 2005 4,286 10,251

Interim 2006 unfranked dividend of 5 cents per share (2005 – 2 cents) paid on 28 April 2006 4,383 1,722

Total dividend payment 8,669 11,973

In addition to the above dividends, since the end of the financial year the Directors have recommended the payment of a final dividend of 5 cents  
per share ($4,513,000) to be paid on 3 October 2006.

Review of Operations and Results
The table below shows the Group’s performance over the last 5 years since commencement of operations in 2002. Net profit in the first 2 years was 
favourably impacted by high grades and a low strip ratio. Profit has increased from 2005 due to increased ore treated during the year. The Group has 
made a major commitment to exploration in Thailand and has been successful in increasing Mineral Resources. 

2006
AIFRS

2005
AIFRS

2004
AGAAP

2003
AGAAP

2002
AGAAP

Net Profit After Tax ($’000) 16,662 8,391 37,679 47,323 33,022

Dividends Paid (Cash & DRP) ($’000) 8,669 11,973 17,631 19,927 –

Mineral Resources (Gold oz’000) 3,775 3,020 1,804 1,668 1,817

Share Price 30 June ($) 5.14 2.84 3.51 2.94 2.50

Basic earnings per share (Cents) 19.3 9.8 45.5 65.4 48.5

Diluted earnings per share (Cents) 19.3 9.8 45.5 65.3 45.9

The Company continued the Share Buyback program and 376,167 shares were bought back and cancelled up to 30 June 2006 at a cost of $1,268,749.

Significant Change in the State of Affairs
During the financial year the Group acquired 19.64% of Goldstar Resources NL and 13.67% of Andean Resources Limited. There were no other significant 
changes in the state of affairs of the Group that occurred during the financial year not otherwise disclosed in this report or the consolidated  
financial statements.

Directors’ Report
30 June 2006

30

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Annual Report 2006



Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year

The all-scrip off-market takeover bid for Andean Resources NL (AND) closed on 11 July 2006. One Kingsgate share was offered for every 15 AND shares. 
Kingsgate has acquired a strategic 22.38% in AND (or 64,303,104 AND shares) for 4,286,978 Kingsgate shares.

On 17 August 2006 the Company announced that its Thai subsidiaries have been granted 51 of the 101 Special Prospecting Licences (SPL) currently under 
application surrounding the Chatree Gold Mine. A fee of approximately $450,000 is payable at the time the licences are issued and a deposit or security of 
approximately $980,000 is also due at that time.

Except for the above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2006 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect:

• The Group’s operations in future financial years, or

• The results of those operations in future financial years, or

• The Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Operations 

The likely developments of the Group in the subsequent financial year include the continuation of mining operations at the Chatree Gold Mine, securing 
the Chatree North mining lease, a continuation of the expanded exploration program both near the mine site, regionally within the mineralised corridor 
and in South America, and further increases in Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves.

Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations have not been included in this report 
because the Directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

Environmental Regulation

The Group is subject to environmental regulation in respect to its gold mining operations and exploration activities in Thailand, Argentina, Chile and Peru.  
For the year ended 30 June 2006, the Group has operated within all environmental laws and there were no known contraventions at the date of this report. 

Directors’ Attendance at Meetings (1 July 2005 to 30 June 2006)

Appointed Independent Board
Audit  

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Meetings Held 10 2 1 1

Meetings Attended:

Ross Smyth-Kirk 1994 Yes 10 2 1 1

John Falconer 1995 Yes 10 2 1 1

Peter McAleer 2000 Yes 10 2 1 1

During the financial year, 10 Board meetings, 2 Audit Committee meetings, 1 Nomination Committee meeting and 1 Remuneration Committee meeting 
were held. The table above shows information on Board members and their attendance (including attendance by telecommunication) during the year.
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Information on Directors

Ross Smyth-Kirk, B Com, CPA, F Fin, Age: 59

Ross Smyth-Kirk was a founding Director of the former leading investment management company, Clayton Robard Management Limited and has had 
extensive experience over a number of years in investment management including a close involvement with the minerals and mining sectors. He was 
appointed to the Board on 29 November 1994 and has been a Director of a number of companies over the past 27 years in Australia and the UK.

Responsibilities:	� Chairman of the Board, member of the Audit Committee and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

John Falconer, FCA, F Fin, Age: 58

John Falconer is a principal of Carbone Falconer & Co, a firm of Chartered Accountants practising in Sydney, whose client base includes small publicly 
listed companies as well as a number of successful family businesses. He is also a Director of TZ Limited. 

Responsibilities:	� Company Secretary, Chairman of the Audit Committee and member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Former directorship in the last 3 years: Taragon Property Fund

Peter McAleer, B Com (Hons), B L (Kings Inns – Dublin – Ireland) Age: 63

Peter McAleer is Chairman of Latin Gold Limited and a Director of Kenmare Resources Plc (Ireland). Previously, he was a Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of Equatorial Mining Limited and a Director of Mineral El Tesoro (Chile). He has been an Executive Director of Whim Creek Consolidated NL, 
Austwhim Resources NL and The Northgate Group of Companies (Canada). He has been involved in the discovery, and/or successful development, of over 
10 base and precious metal deposits in Europe, Australia, South America and North America.

Responsibilities:	 Member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Former directorship in the last 3 years: Kalahari Diamond Resources PLC.

Remuneration Report

The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration.

B Details of remuneration.

C Service agreements.

D Share based compensation.

E Additional information.

The information provided under headings A‑D includes remuneration disclosures that are required under Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related 
Party Disclosures. These disclosures have been transferred from the financial report and have been audited. The disclosures in Section E are additional 
disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001 which have not been audited. 
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A Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration (audited)

The Group’s policy for determining the nature and amount of emoluments of Board members and senior executives is set by the Board’s Remuneration 
Committee. The Committee makes recommendations to the Board concerning the remuneration of executive and non-executive Directors having regard 
to the Group’s stage of development, remuneration in the industry and performance.

The main objective of the Group’s executive reward program is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. 
The Board has regard to the following key criteria for good reward governance practices:

• Competitiveness and reasonableness

• Acceptability to shareholders

• Performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation

• Transparency

• Capital management.

In consultation with external remuneration consultants, the Group seeks to structure an executive remuneration program that is market competitive and 
complimentary to the reward strategy of the organisation and ensures:

Alignment to shareholders' interests including:

• Economic profit as a core component of plan design.

• �Focus on sustained growth in share price and delivering constant return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value. 

• Attract and retain high calibre executives.

Alignment to program participants' interests:

• Rewards capability and experience.

• Reflects competitive reward for contribution to shareholder growth.

• Provides a clear structure for earning rewards. 

• Provides recognition for contribution.

The program is intended to provide a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a blend of short and long-term incentives, as appropriate. As executives gain 
seniority with the Group, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of “at risk” rewards.

Non-executive Directors
The aggregate remuneration of Directors is set by shareholders in general meeting, in accordance with the Constitution of the Company, with individual 
Directors’ remuneration determined by the Board within the aggregate total. In determining the level of fees, data from surveys undertaken by outside 
consultants is taken into account. The aggregate amount of Directors’ fees approved by shareholders on 26 October 2004 is $500,000.

Fees and payments to non-executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the Directors. The Board also has regard  
to the advice of independent remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive Directors’ fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. 

The Chairman’s fees are determined independently to the fees of non-executive Directors based on comparative roles in the external market.  
The Chairman is not present at any discussions relating to determination of his own remuneration. 

Retirement Allowances for Directors
There are no retirement allowances for non-executive Directors.



Executive Pay
The executive pay and reward program is comprised of four components: 

• Base pay and benefits.

• Short-term performance incentives.

• Long-term incentives through participation in an option plan.

• Other remuneration such as superannuation.

The combination of these comprises the executive’s total remuneration. 

Base Pay
This is structured as a total employment cost package which may be delivered as a mix of cash and prescribed non-financial benefits at the  
executives’ discretion.

Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards. External remuneration consultants provide analysis 
and advice to ensure base pay is set to reflect the market for a comparable role. Base pay for senior executives is reviewed annually to ensure  
the executive’s pay is competitive with the market. An executive’s pay is also reviewed on promotion.

There are no guaranteed base pay increases fixed in any senior executives’ contracts.

Benefits 
Executives may receive benefits including car allowances and car parking.

Short-term Incentives
Short-term bonus payments are made to executives at the discretion of the remuneration committee, based on exceptional performance. The 
remuneration committee has engaged an independent remuneration consultant to advise it on formalising a short-term incentive (STI) for all executives 
in future years, although this has not been implemented during the year. 

Kingsgate Consolidated Employee Option Plan
Information on the Kingsgate Consolidated Employee Option Plan is set out on page 35.

B Details of remuneration (audited)

Amounts of Remuneration
Details of the remuneration of each Director of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and each of the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 
Related Party Disclosures) of the Company and Group who received the highest remuneration, including their personally-related entities, for the year 
ended 30 June 2006 are set out in the following tables. 

The key management personnel of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited includes the Directors as per page 26 above and the following executive officers, which 
are also the 5 highest paid executives of the entity:

• Gavin Thomas 
• Stephen Promnitz 
• Peter Warren 
• Niall Lenahan 
• Arthur Ellis

The key management personnel of the Group are the Directors of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited (see page 26) and those executives that report directly 
to the Chief Executive Officer. This includes the 5 group executives who received the highest remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2006.  
The executives are:

• Stephen Promnitz 
• Surapol Udompornwirat 
• Phil MacIntyre 
• Ron James 
• Arthur Ellis
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Key Management Personnel of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited

2006 Short-term Benefits Post-employment Benefits
Share-based 

Payment

Name

Cash Salary  
and Fees 

$

Cash 
Bonus 

$

Non-monetary 
Benefits 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Retirement 
Benefits 

$
Options 

$
Total 

$

Non-executive Directors

Ross Smyth-Kirk 120,000 – 1,158 10,800 – – 131,958

John Falconer 60,000 – – 5,400 – – 65,400

Peter McAleer* 60,000 – – – – – 60,000

Total 240,000 – 1,158 16,200 – – 257,358

* Consulting fees of $60,000 (2005 – $60,000) were paid or payable to Norwest Mining Consultants Ltd, of which Peter McAleer is an officer and Director. 

2006 Short-term Benefits Post-employment Benefits
Share-based 

Payment

Name

Cash Salary  
and Fees 

$

Cash 
Bonus 

$

Non-monetary 
Benefits 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Retirement 
Benefits 

$
Options 

$
Total 

$

Other Key  
Management Personnel

Gavin Thomas 464,000 – 5,519 36,000 – 359,737 865,256

Stephen Promnitz* 294,343 – – 24,083 – 178,954 497,380

Peter Warren** 41,607 – 375 50,700 – – 92,682

Niall Lenahan*** 182,839 – 6,882 94,000 70,000 – 353,721

Arthur Ellis 158,397 20,000 – 12,139 – – 190,536

Total 1,141,186 20,000 12,776 216,922 70,000 538,691 1,999,575

* Stephen Promnitz commenced employment 1 August 2005.
** Peter Warren commenced employment 13 March 2006.
*** Niall Lenahan resigned 31 January 2006.
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Key Management Personnel of the Group

2006 Short-term Benefits Post-employment Benefits
Share-based 

Payment

Name

Cash Salary  
and Fees 

$

Cash 
Bonus 

$

Non-monetary 
Benefits 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Retirement 
Benefits 

$
Options 

$
Total 

$

Non-executive Directors

Ross Smyth-Kirk 120,000 – 1,158 10,800 – – 131,958

John Falconer 60,000 – – 5,400 – – 65,400

Peter McAleer * 60,000 – – – – – 60,000

Total 240,000 – 1,158 16,200 – – 257,358

* Consulting fees of $60,000 (2005 – $60,000) were paid or payable to Norwest Mining Consultants Ltd, of which Peter McAleer is an officer and Director.

2006 Short-term Benefits Post-employment Benefits
Share-based 

Payment

Name

Cash Salary  
and Fees 

$

Cash 
Bonus 

$

Non-monetary 
Benefits 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Retirement 
Benefits 

$
Options 

$
Total 

$

Other Key  
Management Personnel 

Gavin Thomas 464,000 – 5,519 36,000 – 359,737 865,256

Stephen Promnitz* 294,343 – – 24,083 – 178,954 497,380

Surapol Udompornwirat^ 140,325 35,081 3,689 10,047 – – 189,142

Phil MacIntyre 404,495 42,468 11,596 – – 114,717 573,276

Ron James 276,255 29,164 8,418 – – 41,028 354,865

Arthur Ellis 158,397 20,000 – 12,139 – – 190,536

Total 1,737,815 126,713 29,222 82,269 – 694,436 2,670,455

* Stephen Promnitz commenced employment 1 August 2005.
^ Surapol Udompornwirat resigned 30 June 2006.
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2005 Short-term Benefits Post-employment Benefits
Share-based 

Payment

Name

Cash Salary  
and Fees 

$

Cash 
Bonus 

$

Non-monetary 
Benefits 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Retirement 
Benefits 

$
Options 

$
Total 

$

Non-executive Directors

Ross Smyth-Kirk 120,000 – 1,916 10,800 – – 132,716

John Falconer 60,000 – – 5,400 – – 65,400

Peter McAleer * 60,000 – – – – – 60,000

John Shaw** 45,000 – – 4,050 – – 49,050

Steve Reid*** 331,114 – – 26,271 – – 357,385

Total 616,114 – 1,916 46,521 – – 664,551

* Consulting fees of $60,000 (2005 $60,000) were paid or payable to Norwest Mining Consultants Ltd of which Peter McAleer is an officer and Director.
** John Shaw resigned 31 March 2005. 
*** Steve Reid resigned 24 January 2005.

2005 Short-term Benefits Post-employment Benefits
Share-based 

Payment

Name

Cash Salary  
and Fees 

$

Cash 
Bonus 

$

Non-monetary 
Benefits 

$

Super- 
annuation 

$

Retirement 
Benefits 

$
Options 

$
Total 

$

Other Key  
Management Personnel

Gavin Thomas 200,000 – 2,044 – – 22,940 224,984

Niall Lenahan 276,000 – 11,178 24,000 – 11,225 322,403

Marcus Tomkinson 238,415 – – 11,585 – 3,227 253,227

Surapol Udompornwirat 132,113 29,405 29,740 6,920 – 11,225 209,403

Phil MacIntyre 182,175 – 102,178 – – 11,225 295,578

Arthur Ellis 142,908 – – 12,000 – 5,612 160,520

Total 1,171,611 29,405 145,140 54,505 – 65,454 1,466,115
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C Service Agreements (audited)

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Chief Executive Officer and the other key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. 
Each of these agreements provide for the provision of performance-related cash bonuses, other benefits including car allowances and car parking, and 
participation, when eligible, in the Employee Option Plan. Other major provisions of the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below.

Gavin Thomas – Chief Executive Officer

• Term of agreement – 3 years ending 1 April 2008.

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, as at 30 June 2006 of $500,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.

• No termination or bonus payments. 

Stephen Promnitz – Corporate Development Manager (Commenced employment 1 August 2005)

• Term of agreement – No fixed term.

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, as at 30 June 2006 of $350,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.

• No termination or bonus payments. 

Peter Warren – Chief Financial Officer (Commenced employment 13 March 2006)

• Term of agreement – No fixed term.

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, as at 30 June 2006 of $300,000 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.

• No termination or bonus payments. 

Niall Lenahan – Chief Financial Officer (resigned)

• Agreement terminated on resignation on 31 January 2006.

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the 7 months ended 31 January of $276,839.

Surapol Udompornwirat – Vice President Akara Mining Limited

• Employment agreement terminated on resignation on 30 June 2006.

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2006 of $150,372.

As from 1 July 2006, Surapol provides consultancy services to Akara Mining Limited.

Phil MacIntyre –Chief Operating Officer, General Manager, Akara Mining Limited

• Term of agreement – 3 years ending 16 July 2007.

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2006 of $458,559 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Ron James – General Manager, Exploration and Resource Development 

• Term of agreement – Renewable on an annual basis at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2006 of $312,837 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Arthur Ellis – Financial Controller 

• Term of agreement – No fixed term.

• Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, as at 30 June 2006 of $170,536 to be reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.
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D Share Based Compensation (audited)

Options

Kingsgate Employees and Contractors Option Plan
On 28 November 2001, shareholders at the Annual General Meeting approved the special resolution to establish the Kingsgate Employees and Contractors 
Option Plan 2001. Under this plan 2,500,000 options may be issued to employees and contractors of the Group (excluding Directors of the Company). 
This plan has similar option terms as the option plan established in 1998 which authorised the Directors to issue up to 500,000 options to employees and 
contractors of the Group (excluding Directors of the Company). 

The terms of the options issued pursuant to the plan are as follows:

(a) the exercise period for the options is three years from the date the options are granted.

(b) �each option will entitle the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company and the exercise price for each option will be 10% above the 
average closing sale price of the Company’s ordinary fully paid shares on the Australian Stock Exchange over the five trading days preceding the day 
on which options are issued (but in any event not less than 20 cents).

(c) options are granted under the plan to eligible employees and contractors for no consideration.

(d) options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.

(e) set out on page 36 are summaries of options granted under the plans.

Full details of the Employee Option Plan are disclosed in the Share Option Plan rules which were approved by shareholders in November 2001,  
a copy of which can be obtained from the Company.
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Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price
Value Per Option  

at Grant Date Date Exercisable

29 January 2004 29 January 2007 $3.93 $0.49 29 January 2005

31 March 2005 1 April 2010 $2.69 $0.36 1 April 2005

7 July 2005 1 July 2010 $4.00

$0.39
$0.43
$0.47

36% on 1 July 2006, 
36% on 1 July 2007 and 

28% on 1 July 2008

7 July 2005 1 July 2010 $5.00

$0.25
$0.29
$0.33

36% on 1 July 2006, 
36% on 1 July 2007 and 

28% on 1 July 2008

7 July 2005 1 July 2010 $6.00

$0.17
$0.21
$0.24

36% on 1 July 2006, 
36% on 1 July 2007 and 

28% on 1 July 2008

7 July 2005 1 July 2010 $7.00

$0.11
$0.15
$0.18

36% on 1 July 2006, 
36% on 1 July 2007 and 

28% on 1 July 2008

26 October 2005 26 October 2010 $3.00 $1.52 26 October 2005

26 October 2005 26 October 2010 $4.00
$1.15
$1.24

50% on 1 November 2006 and 
50% on 1 November 2007

26 October 2005 26 October 2010 $5.00
$0.85
$0.94

50% on 1 November 2006 and 
50% on 1 November 2007

26 October 2005 26 October 2010 $6.00
$0.63
$0.72

50% on 1 November 2006 and 
50% on 1 November 2007

26 October 2005 1 August 2010 $3.25

$1.44
$1.51
$1.58

50% on 1 August 2006, 
25% on 1 August 2007 and 

25% on 1 August 2008

26 October 2005 1 August 2010 $4.00

$1.12
$1.21
$1.29

50% on 1 August 2006, 
25% on 1 August 2007 and 

25% on 1 August 2008

26 October 2005 1 August 2010 $5.00

$0.80
$0.90
$0.99

50% on 1 August 2006, 
25% on 1 August 2007 and 

25% on 1 August 2008

26 October 2005 1 August 2010 $6.00

$0.58
$0.68
$0.77

50% on 1 August 2006, 
25% on 1 August 2007 and 

25% on 1 August 2008

26 October 2005 1 August 2010 $7.00

$0.43
$0.52
$0.61

50% on 1 August 2006, 
25% on 1 August 2007 and 

25% on 1 August 2008

Details of options over ordinary shares in the company provided as remuneration to each Director of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and each of the 
key management personnel of the Group are set out on page 37. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of Kingsgate 
Consolidated Limited. Further information on the options is set out in Note 22 of the financial statements.



Number of Options Granted  
During the Year

Number of Options Vested  
During the Year

Name 2006 2005 2006 2005 

Other Key Management Personnel of the Group

Gavin Thomas 2,500,000 60,000 – 60,000

Stephen Promnitz 400,000 – – –

Niall Lenahan – – – 40,000

Marcus Tomkinson – – – 80,000

Surapol Udompornwirat – – – 40,000

Phil MacIntyre 150,000 – 50,000 40,000

Ron James 90,000 – – –

Arthur Ellis – – – 20,000

Fair Value of Options Granted

The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, 
the share price at grant date, the expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term 
of the option.

The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2006 included:

(a) Options are granted for no consideration.

(b) Expected price volatility of the Company’s shares: 40% (2005 – 40%).

(c) Expected dividend yield: 4.4% (2005 – 5%).

(d) Risk-free interest rate: 5.2% (2005 – 5.2%).

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information. 

Shares Provided on Exercise of Remuneration Options

Details of ordinary shares in the company provided as a result of the exercise of remuneration options to each Director of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited 
and other key management personnel of the Group are set out below.

Name

Directors of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited

Number of Ordinary Shares Issued  
on Exercise of Options During the Year

2006 2005

Peter McAleer – 100,000

Other Key Management Personnel of the Group

Gavin Thomas – –

Stephen Promnitz – –

Niall Lenahan 90,000 –

Marcus Tomkinson – –

Surapol Udompornwirat 40,000 –

Phil MacIntyre – –

Ron James – –
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The amounts paid per ordinary share by other key management personnel on the exercise of options at the date of exercise were as follows:

Exercise Date	 Amount Paid per Share

11 January 2006	 $3.93

11 January 2006	 $4.44

28 April 2006	 $3.93

No amounts are unpaid on any shares issued on the exercise of options.

E Additional Information – Unaudited

Principles Used to Determine the Nature and Amount of Remuneration: Relationship Between Remuneration and Company Performance 

The overall level of executive reward takes into account the performance of the Group over a number of years, with greater emphasis given to the 
current and prior year. Over the past 5 years, the Group’s profit from ordinary activities after income tax has grown at an average rate of 14% per 
annum, and shareholder wealth has grown at an average rate of 12% per annum. During the same period, average executive remuneration has grown by 
approximately 9% per annum.

Details of Remuneration: Cash Bonus and Options

For each cash bonus and grant of options included in the tables on pages 31 to 33 and 36 to 39 the percentage of the available bonus or grant that 
was paid or that was vested, in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited because the person did not meet the service and performance 
criteria is set out below. No part of the bonus is payable in future years. The options vest over a 2 or 3 year period and will vest if the executive remains an 
employee of the company on the vesting date and the options will vest immediately if the executive’s employment is terminated as a result of a change 
in control of the company. No options will vest if the above conditions are not satisfied, hence the minimum value of the options yet to vest is nil. The 
maximum value of the options yet to vest has been determined assuming the share price on the date the options are exercised will not exceed $2.82 for 
the options issued in July 2005 and $4.00 for the options issued in October 2005.

Cash Bonus Options

Name

Paid 
%

Forfeited 
%

Year  
Granted

Vested  
%

Forfeited  
%

Financial years 
in which the 
options may 

vest

Minimum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest
$

Maximum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest
$

Gavin Thomas

nil nil

2006

2005

–

100

–

–

2007
2008
2009

–

nil
nil
nil
–

185,400
221,400
196,000

–

Stephen Promnitz
nil nil 2006 – –

2007
2008
2009

nil
nil
nil

141,875
80,313
89,062

Surapol Udompornwirat 100 nil – – – – – –

Phil MacIntyre
100 nil

2006

2006

–

30

–

–

2007
2008

–

nil
nil
–

37,000
41,500

–

Ron James
100 nil 2006 – –

2007
2008

nil
nil

39,450
43,500

Arthur Ellis 100 nil – – – – – –



Share Based Compensation: Options

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in this or future reporting periods are in accordance with the Kingsgate 
Employees and Contractors Option Plan and the Kingsgate Executive Option plan. For details of these plans and the valuation of options, including models 
and assumptions used, please refer Note 22.

Name Grant Date Options  
Granted  
During  

the Year

A
Remuneration 

Consisting of Options
%

B
Value at 

Grant Date
$

C
Value at 

Exercise Date 
$

D
Value at Lapse

Date
$

E
Total of  
Columns  
B to D

Gavin Thomas 7 July 2005 2,500,000 41.5 602,800 – – 602,800

Stephen Promnitz 26 Oct 2005 400,000 36.0 311,250 – – 311,250

Niall Lenahan – – – – 75,300 – 75,300

Marcus Tomkinson – – – – – 90,000 90,000

Surapol Udompornwirat – – – – 76,400 – 76,400

Phil MacIntyre 26 Oct 2005 150,000 20.0 154,500 – – 154,500

Ron James 26 Oct 2005 90,000 11.6 82,950 – – 82,950

A= The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of options, based on the value at grant date.

B= The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payment of options granted during the year as part of remuneration. 

C= The value at exercise date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised during the year.

D= The value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the year.

Shares Under Option

As at the date of this report, there were 3,660,000 unissued ordinary shares under option (3,260,000 at the reporting date). Refer to Note 22 of the 
financial statements for further details of the options outstanding.

Option holders do not have any right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue of the Company.

Shares Issued on the Exercise of Options

During the financial year, employees and executives have exercised options to acquire 130,000 fully paid ordinary shares of Kingsgate Consolidated 
Limited at weighted average exercise price of $4.13.

No further shares have been issued since that date and no amounts are unpaid on any of the shares.
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Interest in Shares and Options of the Company

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors and key management personnel in the shares and options of Kingsgate Consolidated  
Limited were:

Name Ordinary Shares Options Over Ordinary Shares

Directors of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited

Ross Smyth-Kirk 4,586,271 –

John Falconer 189,291 –

Peter McAleer 380,000 –

Key Management Personnel of the Group

Gavin Thomas 703,921 2,560,000

Stephen Promnitz – 400,000

Peter Warren* – 400,000

Phil MacIntyre 95,000 190,000

Ron James – 90,000

Arthur Ellis 24,872 20,000

* The options were issued to Peter Warren on 7 July 2006.

Insurance of Officers

During the financial year, the Group paid premiums to insure Directors and Officers of the Group. The contracts include a prohibition on disclosure of the 
premium paid and nature of the liabilities covered under the policy. 

Directors’ Interest in Contracts

No material contracts involving Directors’ interests were entered into since the end of the previous financial year or existed at the end of the financial 
year other than the transactions detailed in the Note to the accounts.

Non-audit Services

The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with 
the Company and/or the Group are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for the audit and non-audit services provided during the year are set  
out below.

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with advice received from the Audit Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the 
non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied 
that the provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 for the following reasons:

• All non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor.

• �None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in the Professional Statement F1, including reviewing 
or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the Group, acting as advocate for the Group or jointly 
sharing economic risk and rewards.
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During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Parent Entity, its related practices and non-related 
audit firms:

Consolidated

2006
$

2005
$

Assurance Services

Audit Services

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian Firm

Audit and review of the financial reports and other work under the Corporations Act 2001 215,480 164,545

Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian Firm 86,111 78,442

Total remuneration for audit services 301,591 242,987

Other Assurance Services

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian Firm

Workers compensation review 3,500 3,000

AGM scrutineers – 12,292

IFRS accounting services 82,550 –

Andean Bidders Statement review 90,000 –

Total remuneration for other assurance services 176,050 15,292

Total Remuneration for Assurance Services 477,641 258,279

Taxation Services

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian Firm 44,075 70,207
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Auditors’ Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 43.

Rounding of Amounts
The Group is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding off” 
of amounts in the Directors’ report. Amounts in the Directors’ report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand 
dollars, or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Ross Smyth-Kirk 
Director

John Falconer 
Director

Sydney 
29 August 2006



As lead auditor for the audit of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006, I declare that to the best of my knowledge 
and belief, there have been:

a) No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b) No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and the entities it controlled during the period.

Peter Buchholz	 Sydney 
Partner	 29 August 2006

Auditors’ Independence Declaration
30 June 2006
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For the year ended 30 June 2006

Consolidated Parent Entity

Notes 2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from Continuing Operations 3 74,143 66,770 14,974 14,564

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress (522) (868) – –

Direct costs of mining and processing (40,266) (34,851) – –

Employee benefits expense (8,053) (6,019) (2,636) (1,403)

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 4 (7,805) (8,720) (50) (35)

Finance costs 4 (854) (982) (801) (885)

Exploration expensed (2,853) (2,082) – –

Foreign exchange gains / (losses) 4 205 135 – (49)

Gain / (loss) on derivative financial instruments 7,056 – – –

Other expenses from ordinary activities (4,389) (4,992) (3,339) (3,739)

Profit Before Income Tax 16,662 8,391 8,148 8,453

Income tax expense 5 – – – –

Profit from Continuing Operations 16,662 8,391 8,148 8,453

Net Profit Attributable to Members of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited 16,662 8,391 8,148 8,453

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 30 19.3 9.8

Diluted earnings per share 30 19.3 9.8

The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Notes.

Income Statement

48



Consolidated Parent Entity

Notes 2006 2005 2006 2005

 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 6 10,391 32,119 1,907 25,366

Receivables 7 1,398 4,000 6 108

Inventories 8 6,656 6,346 – –

Other assets 9 2,751 1,816 415 353

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 21,196 44,281 2,328 25,827

NON–CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables 7 – – 87,661 50,925

Available–for–sale financial assets 10 20,385 – 6,832 –

Mine property, plant and equipment 11 122,922 88,077 115 76

Other assets 9 94 3,650 94 310

Investments 19 – – – –

TOTAL NON–CURRENT ASSETS 143,401 91,727 94,702 51,311

TOTAL ASSETS 164,597 136,008 97,030 77,138

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 13 8,948 7,184 1,285 461

Provisions 14 1,162 1,114 – 79

Derivative financial instruments 15 23,138 872 – –

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 33,248 9,170 1,285 540

NON–CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 14 3,292 2,842 – –

Derivative financial instruments 15 49 2,767 – –

TOTAL NON–CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,341 5,609 – –

TOTAL LIABILITIES 36,589 14,779 1,285 540

NET ASSETS 128,008 121,229 95,745 76,598

EQUITY

Parent entity interest

Contributed equity 16 92,091 75,934 92,091 75,934

Reserves 17 (23,629) (9,367) 3,622 111

Retained profits 17 59,546 54,662 32 553

TOTAL EQUITY 128,008 121,229 95,745 76,598

The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2006

FINANCIAL REPORT
www.kingsgate.com.au
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Consolidated Parent Entity

Notes 2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total Equity at the Beginning of the Financial Year 121,229 133,488 76,598 78,290

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139:

Retained profits 17 (3,109) – – –

Reserves 17 (24,475) – – –

Restated Total Equity at the Beginning of the Financial Year 93,645 133,488 76,598 78,290

Available–for–sale financial assets 17 (955) – 2,856 –

Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges 17 (2,360) – – –

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 17 12,873 (10,505) – –

Employee share options 17 655 47 655 47

Net Income Recognised Directly in Equity 10,213 (10,458) 3,511 47

Profit for the Year 16,662 8,391 8,148 8,453

Total Recognised Income and Expense for the Year 26,875 (2,067) 11,659 8,500

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs 16 17,425 2,504 17,425 2,504

Shares bought back on–market and cancelled, inclusive of transaction costs 16 (1,268) (723) (1,268) (723)

Dividends paid 20 (8,669) (11,973) (8,669) (11,973)

7,488 (10,192) 7,488 (10,192)

Total Equity at the End of the Financial Year 128,008 121,229 95,745 76,598

The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the year ended 30 June 2006

Statements of Changes in Equity
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Consolidated Parent Entity

Notes 2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods and services tax) 73,308 65,440 665 602

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (51,579) (44,350) (4,763) (4,788)

Interest received 798 1,983 663 1,904

Finance costs (638) (889) (801) (885)

Dividends received – – 13,550 12,000

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 23 21,889 22,184 9,314 8,833

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for exploration and land acquisitions (15,310) (33,913) – –

Loans to related parties – – (20,508) (18,979)

Payments for property, plant and equipment (15,201) (4,229) (93) (45)

Payments for investments (5,724) – (3,977) –

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (36,235) (38,142) (24,578) (19,024)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issue of shares 536 215 536 215

Payments for shares bought back (1,259) (718) (1,259) (718)

Share issue and buy-back transaction costs (9) (5) (9) (5)

Dividends paid (7,434) (9,684) (7,434) (9,684)

NET CASH (OUTFLOW) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (8,166) (10,192) (8,166) (10,192)

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (22,512) (26,150) (23,430) (20,383)

Cash at the beginning of the financial year 32,119 59,696 25,336 45,799

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 784 (1,427) 1 (50)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 10,391 32,119 1,907 25,366

The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the year ended 30 June 2006

Cash Flow Statements
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The financial report of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited for the year ended 30 June 2006 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of 
Directors on 29 August 2006.

Kingsgate Consolidated Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian Stock 
Exchange using the ASX code KCN.

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to 
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial report includes separate financial statements for Kingsgate Consolidated Limited as an 
individual entity and the Group consisting of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and its subsidiaries. 

(a) Basis of Preparation
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.

As at 30 June 2006 the consolidated entity had a working capital deficiency of $12,052,000 (2005: $Nil). The Consolidated Entity generated cash flows 
from operating activities for the year ended 30 June 2006 of $21,889,000 (2005: $22,184,000) and net profit of $16,662,000 (2005: $8,391,000).  
The Consolidated Entity has access to facilities disclosed in Note 12. The Parent Entity relies upon cash flows of its subsidiaries to meet its liabilities  
as they fall due.

The Directors are of the opinion that this provides reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the Consolidated Entity will be able to pay their 
debts as and when they fall due. This Financial Report has been prepared on a going concern basis.

Compliance with IFRS
Australian Accounting Standards include Compliance with AIFRS ensure that the consolidated financial statements and notes of Kingsgate Consolidated 
Limited comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Parent Entity financial statements and notes also comply  
with IFRS except that it has elected to apply the relief provided to Parent Entities in respect of certain disclosure requirements contained in  
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation and Disclosure and AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.

Application of AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards
These financial statements are the first Kingsgate Consolidated Limited financial report to be prepared in accordance with AIFRS. AASB 1 First time 
Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied in preparing these financial statements.

Financial statements of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited until 30 June 2005 had been prepared in accordance with previous Australian Generally  
Accepted Accounting Principles (AGAAP). AGAAP differs in certain respects from AIFRS. When preparing the Kingsgate Consolidated Limited 2006 
financial statements, management has amended the accounting, valuation and consolidation methods applied in the previous AGAAP financial 
statements to comply with AIFRS as required. With the exception of financial instruments, the comparative figures were restated to reflect these 
adjustments. The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to only apply AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation  
and AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement from 1 July 2005.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of transition from previous AGAAP to AIFRS on the Group’s equity and its net income are given in Note 32.

Historical Cost Convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets, 
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value.

(b) Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited (“Company” or  
“Parent Entity”) as at 30 June 2006 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and its subsidiaries together 
are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the Consolidated Entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Notes to the Financial Statements
30 June 2006
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer to Note 1 (h)).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

(c) Segment Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to risks and returns that are different to 
those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment and is 
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

(d) Foreign Currency Translation
(i) �Functional and Presentation Currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 
the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Kingsgate Consolidated 
Limited functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and Balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and 
qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in equity.

(iii) Group Companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional 
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•	 assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;

•	 �income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

•	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings and other currency 
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders' equity. When a foreign operation is sold or borrowings repaid, a 
proportionate share of such exchange differences are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at 
the closing rate.

(e) Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Sales revenue represents the net proceeds receivable from the customer, 
profit or loss on effective gold derivatives less any costs of transportation borne by the Group in delivering the product to customers.

Gold and silver revenue is recognised when the refinery process has been finalised and the sale transaction to a third party has been completed.

(f) Income Tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the national income tax rate for each 
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities 
are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative 
amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made for certain temporary 
differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary 
differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or 
taxable profit or loss.



54

FINANCIAL REPORT
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Annual Report 2006

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in controlled 
entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

(g) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance 
leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long term payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the 
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to 
the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under 
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(h) Acquisitions of Assets
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all acquisitions of assets (including business combinations) regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, shares issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, the value of the instruments is their 
published market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated that the published price at the date of exchange 
is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other evidence and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs 
arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the 
difference is recognised directly in the income statement, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value as at the date 
of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an 
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.

(i) Impairment of Assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).

(j) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(k) Trade Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision for doubtful debts. Receivables from 
gold and silver sales are due for settlement no more than 3 days from the date of recognition. Other receivables are due for settlement no more than 90 
days from the date of recognition.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful 
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 
receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement.
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(l) Inventories
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials, 
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis 
of weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(m) Investments and Other Financial Assets
From 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005
The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 only from 1 July 2005. The Group has applied previous 
AGAAP to the comparative information on financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139. 

Adjustments on Transition Date: 1 July 2005
The nature of the main adjustments to make this information comply with AASB 132 and AASB 139 are that, with the exception of held-to-maturity 
investments and loans and receivables which are measured at amortised cost (refer below), fair value is the measurement basis. Fair value is inclusive of 
transaction costs. Changes in fair value are either taken to the income statement or an equity reserve (refer below). At the date of transition (1 July 2005) 
changes to carrying amounts are taken to retained earnings or reserves.

From 1 July 2005
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 
investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

(i) Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. 
A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. The 
policy of management is to designate a financial asset if there exists the possibility it will be sold in the short term and the asset is subject to frequent 
changes in fair value. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as 
current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

(ii) Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when 
the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of selling the receivable. They are included in current assets, except for 
those with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included 
in receivables in the balance sheet.

(iii) Held-to-maturity Investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management 
has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.

(iv) Available-for-sale Financial Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or 
not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 
months of the balance sheet date.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables 
and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are included in the income statement in the period in which 
they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of non monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in 
equity in the available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair 
value adjustments are included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the 
Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include reference to the fair values of recent arm’s length transactions, involving the 
same instruments or other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect the 
issuer’s specific circumstances.
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The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of 
equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining 
whether the security is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit and loss – is 
removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not 
reversed through the income statement.

(n) Derivatives
From 1 July 2004 to 30 June 2005
The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 2005. The Group has applied previous AGAAP  
in the comparative information on financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139. 

Adjustments on Transition Date: 1 July 2005
The nature of the main adjustments to make this information comply with AASB 132 and AASB 139 are that derivatives are measured on a fair value 
basis. Changes in fair value are either taken to the income statement or an equity reserve (refer below). At the date of transition (1 July 2005) changes in 
the carrying amounts of derivatives are taken to retained earnings or reserves, depending on whether the criteria for hedge accounting are satisfied at 
the transition date.

From 1 July 2005
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value.  
The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the 
item being hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items.

(i) Fair Value Hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with any 
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

(ii) Cash Flow Hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in equity in the hedging 
reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss (for instance when 
the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset 
or liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the measurement of the initial cost or carrying 
amount of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or 
loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. 
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the 
income statement.

(iii) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge 
accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement.

(o) Fair Value Estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-for-sale securities) is based 
on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the 
appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation 
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. 
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Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted 
cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value 
of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is 
available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

(p) Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. Cost includes the expenditure directly associated with the purchase and construction of the asset and the estimated future costs 
of dismantling and restoring the site on which it is located.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation and amortisation of mine buildings, reserves, development, plant, machinery and equipment is provided over the assessed life of the relevant 
mine or asset, whichever is the shorter.

Depreciation and amortisation is determined on a units-of-production basis over proven and probable reserves. In some circumstances, where conversion 
of resources into reserves is expected, some elements of resources may be included. For mine plant, machinery and equipment, which have an expected 
economic life shorter than the life of the mine, a straight line basis is adopted.

The expected useful lives are as follows:

•	 Mine buildings – the shorter of applicable mine life and 25 years;

•	 Plant, machinery and equipment – the shorter of applicable mine life and 3-15 years depending on the nature of the asset.

The reserves and life of each mine and the remaining useful life of each class of asset are reassessed at least annually and the depreciation and 
amortisation rates adjusted accordingly.

Major spares purchased specifically for a particular plant are capitalised and depreciated on the same basis as the plant to which they relate.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable 
amount (Note 1(i)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the income statement. When revalued 
assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer the amounts included in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings.

(q) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group is accumulated separately for each area of interest. Such expenditure 
comprises direct costs, depreciation and does not include general overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific nexus with a particular 
area of interest. 

Exploration expenditure includes funds for land purchases advanced to Suan Sak Patana Limited, a controlled entity Director related company. Advances 
are capitalised in the Group as exploration expenditure to the extent that the acquired land is used by the Group for exploration purposes. Each area of 
interest is limited to a size related to a known or probable mineral resource capable of supporting a mining operation. 

Exploration expenditure for each area of interest is carried forward as an asset provided the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current and one of 
the following conditions is met:

•	� the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of interest,  
or alternatively, by its sale; and

•	� exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of 
the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest  
are continuing.
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Exploration expenditure is written off when it fails to meet at least one of the conditions outlined above or an area of interest is abandoned.

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an exploration and 
evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. When facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount 
the impairment loss will be measured and disclosed in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.

When a decision is made to develop an area of interest, all carried forward exploration expenditure in relation to the area of interest is transferred 
to mine properties.

(r) Mine Properties
Mine properties represents the accumulated exploration, evaluation and development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group in relation to 
areas of interest in which mining of a mineral resource has commenced.

When further development expenditure is incurred in respect of a mine property after commencement of production, such expenditure is carried forward 
as part of the mine property only when substantial future economic benefits are thereby established, otherwise such expenditure is classified as part of 
the cost of production.

Amortisation of costs is provided on the unit-of-production method with separate calculations being made for each mineral resource. The unit-of-
production basis results in an amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the economically recoverable ore reserves. In some circumstances, 
where conversion of resources into reserves is expected, some elements of resources may be included. Development costs still to be incurred in relation  
to the current reserves are included in the amortisation calculation.

(s) Trade and Other Payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(t) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the balance sheet date.

(u) Borrowing Costs
Loan establishment costs are capitalised and written off over the life of the loan. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

(v) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future 
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of 
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to anyone item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance 
date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
liability. The increase in provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(w) Restoration and Rehabilitation Provision 
A provision for restoration and rehabilitation is recognised for the costs expected to be incurred on cessation of producing operations and are measured 
at the present value of expected future cash flows.

The increase in the rehabilitation provision relating to the unwinding of the discount and depreciation on the rehabilitation asset are recorded as a charge 
to earnings. 
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(x) Employee Benefits
(i) Wages and Salaries, Annual leave and Sick Leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates 
paid or payable.

(ii) Long Service Leave and Severance Pay
The liability for long service leave and severance pay is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration 
is given to the expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

(iii) Retirement Benefit Obligations
Contributions to defined contribution funds are recognised as an expense as they become payable.

(iv) Share-based Payments
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via the Kingsgate Employees and Contractors and Executive Option Plans.

Shares Options Granted before 7 November 2002 and/or vested before 1 January 2005
No expense is recognised in respect of these options. The shares are recognised when the options are exercised and the proceeds received allocated to 
share capital.

Shares Options Granted after 7 November 2002 and vested after 1 January 2005
The fair value of options granted under Kingsgate Employees and Contractors Option Plan is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period during which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to the options.

The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, 
the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the option, the share price at grant date and expected price 
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option.

The fair value of the options granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each balance sheet date, 
the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The employee benefit expense recognised each period 
takes into account the most recent estimate.

Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share-based payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to share capital.

(y) Contributed Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or for the acquisition of a business, are 
included as a charge to equity.

If the entity re-acquires its own equity instrument, e.g. as a result of a share buy back, those instruments are deducted from equity and the associated 
shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss and the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net 
of income tax) is recognised directly in equity.

(z) Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before the end of the year but not distributed at balance date.
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(aa) Earnings per Share
(i) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other 
than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares 
issued during the year.

(ii) Diluted Earnings per Share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after income tax effect of 
interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 
issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(ab) Financial Instrument Transaction Costs
The Group has taken the exemption available under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 and AASB 139 from 1 July 2005. The Group has applied previous Australian 
GAAP (AGAAP) in the comparative information on financial instruments within the scope of AASB 132 and AASB 139. Under previous AGAAP transaction 
costs were excluded from the amounts disclosed in the financial statements. Under AIFRS such costs are included in the carrying amounts. At the date of 
transition to AASB 132 and AASB 139 the adjustment to carrying amounts for the Group was immaterial.

(ac) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. 
In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cashflows are presented on a gross basis. The GST component of the cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flow.

(ad) New Accounting Standards and UIG Interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and UIG interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2006 reporting period. The Group’s 
assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below.

(i) UIG 4 Determining Whether an Asset Contains a Lease
UIG 4 is applicable to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. The Group has not elected to adopt UIG 4 early. It will apply UIG 4 in its 2007 
financial statements and the UIG 4 transition provisions. The Group will therefore apply UIG 4 on the basis of facts and circumstances that existed as of  
1 July 2006. Implementation of UIG 4 is not expected to change the accounting for any of the Group’s current arrangements.

(ii) UIG 5 Rights to Interests arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Rehabilitation Funds
The Group does not have interests in decommissioning, restoration and environmental rehabilitation funds. This interpretation will not affect the  
Group’s financial statements.

(iii) AASB 2005-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 4, AASB 1023, AASB 139 & AASB 132]
AASB 2005-9 is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006. The amendments relate to the accounting for financial 
guarantee contracts. The Group has not elected to adopt the amendments early. It will apply the revised standards in its 30 June 2007 financial 
statements. Application of the revised rules may result in the recognition of financial liabilities in the financial statements of the parent entity.  
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited, under guarantees given pursuant to the deed of cross guarantee (see Note 25) in respect of amounts payable by  
wholly-owned subsidiaries. An assessment of the fair value of these guarantees has not yet been performed. The new rules will be implemented 
retrospectively with a restatement of the comparatives as required by AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

(iv) AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 132, AASB 101, AASB 114, 
AASB 117, AASB 133, AASB 139, AASB 1, AASB 4, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038].
AASB 7 and AASB 2005-10 are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The Group has not adopted the standards 
early. Application of the standards will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements, but will impact the type of information 
disclosed in relation to the Group’s financial instruments.

(v) UIG 6 Liabilities Arising from Participating in a Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
UIG 6 is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 December 2006. The Group has not sold any electronic or electrical equipment  
on the European market and has not incurred any associated liabilities. This interpretation will not affect the Group’s financial statements.
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(vi) AASB 2005-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 121]
AASB 2005-6 is applicable to annual reporting periods ending on or after 31 December 2006. The amendment relates to monetary items that form part 
of a reporting entity’s net investment in a foreign operation. It removes the requirement that such monetary items had to be denominated either in the 
functional currency of the reporting entity or the foreign operation. Kingsgate Consolidated Limited does not have any monetary items forming part of  
a net investment in a foreign operation. The amendments to AASB 121 will therefore have no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(ae) Rounding of Amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the  
“rounding off” of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order  
to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are disclosed below:

(i) Exploration and Evaluation Assets
Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each area of interest is carried forward as an asset provided certain conditions are met (Note 1(q)). Exploration 
and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset 
may exceed its recoverable amount. These calculations and reviews require the use of assumptions and judgement. The related carrying amounts  
are disclosed in Note 11.

(ii) Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group uses an external consultant to estimate the fair value of its commodity contracts based on well established option pricing models and market 
conditions existing at the balance sheet date. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. Changes in assumptions concerning 
interest rates, gold prices and volatilities could have a significant impact on the fair valuation attributed to these contracts. When these assumptions 
change or become known in the future, such differences will impact asset carrying values and the hedging reserve in the period in which they change  
or become known. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in Notes 15 and 27.

(iii) Restoration and Rehabilitation Provision
Significant judgement is required in determining the restoration and rehabilitation provision as there are many transactions and factors that will affect 
the ultimate liability payable to rehabilitate the mine site. Factors that will affect this liability includes future development, changes in technology, 
commodity price changes and changes in interest rates. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in Note 14.

(iv) Units of Production Method of Depreciation
The Group applies the units production method for depreciation of its mine properties (Notes 1(p) and 1(r)). These calculations require the use of 
estimates and assumptions. Significant judgement is required in assessing the available reserves and the production capacity of the plant to be 
depreciated under this method. Factors that must be considered in determining reserves and resources and production capacity are the Groups history 
of converting resources to reserves and the relevant time frames, the complexity of metallurgy, markets and future developments. When these factors 
change or become known in the future, such difference will impact profit and carrying values of assets. The related carrying amounts are disclosed in 
Note 11.

(v) Share-based Payments
The Group measures share-based payments at fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes formula taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the instrument were granted, as discussed in Note 22.

vi) Carrying Value of Andean Resources
On 22 February 2006 KCN commenced an off market takeover offer to acquire 100% of the shares in Andean Resources Limited (Andean). The investment 
in Andean was initially recognised at the fair vale of the Kingsgate shares issued in exchange for shares in Andean. This gave rise to an initial carrying 
value of $17.363 million, when combined with transaction costs.

At 30 June 2006 Kingsgate held 39,285,596 shares representing 13.67% of the shares on issue in Andean. The market value of this holding, based on the 
closing share price of Andean on the ASX, was $13.554 million as at 30 June 2006.



62

FINANCIAL REPORT
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Annual Report 2006

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 June 2006

The investment in Andean has been classified as “available for sale” in accordance with Kingsgate’s accounting policy. This policy requires the company  
to carry “available for sale” financial assets at fair value, based on the year end closing share price.

The change in value of $3.810 million has been recorded in the available for sales assets reserves within equity as at 30 June 2006. 

This balance has been offset by the change in value of $2.855 million for the investment held in Goldstar Limited. At the June 2006 the balance of the 
available for sale investment revaluation reserve (Note 17) was ($955,000). 

The group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that financial assets are impaired. In the case of “available for sale” financial 
assets, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost is considered in determining whether the investment is impaired.

Where the company considers the investment to be impaired, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the 
current fair value – is recognised in the income statement.

The Directors consider the investment in Andean is not impaired at the date of the financial report or at the end of the reporting period, due in part to 
the following significant factors:

•	 The underlying nature of the assets held by Andean has not changed since Kingsgate commenced the takeover offer;

•	 Andean can add strategic value to Kingsgate due to the company’s existing exploration operations in South America;

•	 There is a control premium attached to an investment of this size; and

•	 �The offer closed on 11 July 2006 which does not enable the Directors to assess whether the current reduction in value of the investment is prolonged 
or temporary in nature.

Subsequent to year end Kingsgate purchased an additional 25,017,688 shares at a value of $8.251 million increasing the investment to 22.38% of the 
shares on issue in Andean. At the date of this report, Kingsgate held a total of 64,303,104 shares at an initial cost of $25.64 million, including transaction 
costs and prior to any adjustment to reflect the year end market value of the shares, based on the Andean share price. 

There is a risk the initial cost of the investment may be impaired in subsequent reporting periods should the market value of Andean remain significantly 
lower than Kingsgate’s initial carrying value of $25.64 million for a prolonged period of time.

3. REVENUE
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from Continuing Operations

Sales Revenue

Gold sales 67,224 61,045 – –

Silver sales 5,558 3,254 – –

Services – – 600 600

Other Revenue

Interest 798 2,042 759 1,962

Dividends – – 13,550 12,000

Other 563 429 65 2

Revenue from continuing operations 74,143 66,770 14,974 14,564
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4. EXPENSES
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost of Sales 43,941 40,660 – –

Foreign Exchange (gains) / Losses 205 (135) – 49

Finance Costs

Interest and finance charges paid/payable 541 673 585 669

Rehabilitation provision discount adjustment 97 93 – –

Amortisation of deferred borrowing costs 216 216 216 216

Finance Costs Expensed 854 982 801 885

Write down of raw materials and stores – 568 – –

Rental expense relating to operating leases 2,112 1,426 154 44

Depreciation and Amortisation*

Mine properties 4,953 6,488 – –

Mine buildings, plant and equipment 2,716 2,157 – –

Non-mining property, plant and equipment 321 237 50 35

Depreciation capitalised (185) (162) – –

Total depreciation and amortisation 7,805 8,720 50 35

* From November 2005 deprecation calculated based on the units of production method was revised for the 25% increase in ore reserves.

5. INCOME TAX
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

Income Tax Expense $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The income tax expense for the financial year differs from the amount calculated on profit. 
The differences are reconciled as follows:

Profit from continuing operations before income tax expense 16,662 8,391 8,148 8,453

Income tax calculated @ 30% (2005 – 30%) 4,999 2,517 2,444 2,536

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Non-taxable dividends – – (4,065) (3,600)

Tax exempt profits – Thailand (5,342) (4,502) – –

(343) (1,985) (1,621) (1,064)

Current year tax loss not brought to account 343 1,985 1,621 1,064

Income Tax Expense – – – –

Akara Mining Limited, a controlled entity, has received approval from the Royal Thai Board of Investment (BOI) of the Office of the Prime Minister for 
promotion of the Chatree Gold Mine.
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Subject to meeting BOI conditions and based on a production of 178,416 ounces of gold and 583,733 ounces of silver per year, Akara Mining Limited’s 
Chatree Gold Mine is entitled to:

(a) an 8 year full corporate tax holiday commencing at first gold pour on metal sales;

(b) a further 5 year half tax holiday following (a) above (at a 15% tax rate); and

(c) other benefits.

Tax Losses
Potential future income tax benefits of $5,788,000 (2005 – $4,167,000) attributable to Australian tax losses carried forward by the Company and 
future benefits attributable to exploration expenditure and other timing differences allowable for deduction have not been brought to account in the 
consolidated accounts at 30 June 2006 because the Directors do not believe it is appropriate to regard realisation of the future income tax benefits as 
probable. These benefits will only be obtained if:

(a)	� the Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions for the losses to be 
realised; and

(b)	 the Group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and

(c)	 no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit from the deductions for the losses. 

Tax Consolidation Legislation
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiary have implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003.  
The entities are also contemplating entering into a tax sharing agreement, but details of this agreement are yet to be finalised.

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and in hand 1,362 1,227 139 192

Deposits at call 9,029 30,892 1,768 25,174

10,391 32,119 1,907 25,366

Cash at Bank and on Hand

These are non-interest bearing.

Deposits at Call

The deposits at call are bearing floating interest rates between 1% – 5.6% (2005 – 1% – 5.4%) and they may be accessed daily.
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7. RECEIVABLES
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

RECEIVABLES

Current

Other debtors 1,398 4,000 6 108

Non–current

Loans to controlled entities (Note 21) – – 87,661 50,925

8. INVENTORIES
Raw materials and stores – at cost 4,281 3,381 – –

Provision for obsolescence (637) (568) – –

Work in progress – at cost 3,012 3,533 – –

6,656 6,346 – –

9. OTHER ASSETS 
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current

Deposits 1,820 1,025 46 46

Prepayments 931 791 369 307

2,751 1,816 415 353

Non–current

Deferred borrowing costs 630 630 630 630

Accumulated amortisation (536) (320) (536) (320)

94 310 94 310

Derivative financial instruments – commodity contracts – 3,340 – –

94 3,650 94 310

Information on derivative financial instruments is available in Notes 15 and 27(a).
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10. AVAILABLE–FOR–SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Equity Securities

At the beginning of the financial year – – – –

Additions 21,340 – 3,977 –

Revaluation (955) – 2,855 –

At the end of the financial year 20,385 – 6,832 –

The available-for-sale financial asset consists of investments in the ordinary shares of Goldstar Resources NL (ASX: GDR) and Andean Resources Limited 
(ASX: AND). The fair value has been based on the closing share price at the financial year end. 

11. MINE PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated

Exploration 
and 

Evaluation

Land Mine 
Properties

Mine, 
Buildings, 
Plant and 
Equipment

Non-mining 
Plant and 
Equipment

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2004

Cost 19,156 591 23,969 52,327 975 97,018

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation – – (13,384) (15,807) (334) (29,525)

Net book amount 19,156 591 10,585 36,520 641 67,493

Year ended 30 June 2005

Opening net book amount 19,156 591 10,585 36,520 641 67,493

Additions 33,913 – 2,235 1,227 767 38,142

Reclassified (1,247) – 4,460 (3,292) 79 –

Disposals (255) – – (19) (37) (311)

Depreciation and amortisation expense – – (6,488) (2,157) (237) (8,882)

Foreign currency exchange differences (3,352) (61) (1,349) (3,519) (84) (8,365)

Closing net book amount 48,215 530 9,443 28,760 1,129 88,077

At 30 June 2005

Cost 48,215 530 26,247 46,348 1,536 122,876

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation – – (16,804) (17,588) (407) (34,799)

Net book amount 48,215 530 9,443 28,760 1,129 88,077
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11. MINE PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
Consolidated

Exploration 
and 

Evaluation

Land Mine 
Properties

Mine, 
Buildings, 
Plant and 
Equipment

Non-mining 
Plant and 
Equipment

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June 2006

Opening net book amount 48,215 530 9,443 28,760 1,129 88,077

Additions 15,495 – 2,167 12,707 327 30,696

Reclassified – – – – – –

Disposals – – – (7) (2) (9)

Depreciation and amortisation expense – – (4,953) (2,716) (321) (7,990)

Foreign currency exchange differences 6,823 65 972 4,174 114 12,148

Closing net book amount 70,533 595 7,629 42,918 1,247 122,922

At 30 June 2006

Cost 70,533 595 31,767 65,548 2,032 170,475

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation – – (24,138) (22,630) (785) (47,553)

Net book amount 70,533 595 7,629 42,918 1,247 122,922

Parent Entity
Non-mining
Plant and
Equipment

Total Non-mining
Plant and
Equipment

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2004

Cost 173 173

Accumulated depreciation (96) (96)

Net book amount 77 77

Year ended 30 June 2005 Year ended 30 June 2006

Opening net book amount 77 77 Opening net book amount 76 76

Additions 45 45 Additions 93 93

Disposals (11) (11) Disposals (4) (4)

Depreciation expense (35) (35) Depreciation expense (50) (50)

Closing net book amount 76 76 Closing net book amount 115 115

At 30 June 2005 At 30 June 2006

Cost 145 145 Cost 233 233

Accumulated depreciation (69) (69) Accumulated depreciation (118) (118)

Net book amount 76 76 Net book amount 115 115
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12. INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
On 10 December 2003, the parent entity entered into a US$32 million revolving credit facility agreement with four banks. The facility, which amortises 
by 25% on its first two anniversaries, has a three year term, with an option to extend for a further one year. This option was exercised during the year 
and the facility now expires on 1 December 2007. Interest is charged at commercial rates on drawn balances and a facility fee is payable based on a 
percentage of the facility limit. The facility is secured by a first ranking charge over the Group’s Australian assets and a share mortgage over Akara Mining 
Limited’s shares. At 30 June 2006 the US$16 million available under the revolving credit facility was un-drawn. 

13. Payables
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current

Trade creditors 8,948 7,184 1,285 461

14. PROVISIONS 
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current

Employee benefits (Note 1(x) and 22) 772 724 – 79

Taxation – 390 – –

Customs provision 390 –

1,162 1,114 – 79

– – –

Non–current

Restoration and rehabilitation (Note 1(w)) 3,292 2,842 – –

Restoration and Rehabilitation

At the beginning of the financial year 2,842 –

Provision discount adjustment 97 –

Foreign currency exchange differences 353 –

At the end of the financial year 3,292 –

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Current

Commodity contracts 23,138 872 – –

Non–current

Commodity contracts 49 2,767 – –

(a) Transition to AASB 132 and AASB 139
The Group has taken the exemption under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement from 1 July 2005. As a result comparative figures have not been adjusted.
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At the date of transition to these standards of 1 July 2005 commodity contracts were recognised at fair value which resulted in an increase in liabilities 
of $27,584,000. $24,475,000 was recorded in the hedging reserve, representing the effective portion of the commodity contracts that are designated and 
qualify as cash flow hedges. $3,109,000 was recorded in retained earnings for the ineffective portion of these commodity contracts. 

(b) Instruments Used by the Group
The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to fluctuations in commodity price 
fluctuations. This is in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policies. Details of the commodity contracts and risk management policies 
are available in Note 27.

16. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Parent Entity Parent Entity

2006
Shares

2005
Shares

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

(a) Share Capital

Ordinary shares fully paid 88,591,541 85,948,771 92,091 75,934

(b) Movements in Ordinary Share Capital:

Number of
SharesDate Details Notes $’000

1 July 2004 Opening Balance 85,328,773 74,153

9 September 2004 Exercise of options – Director (d) 100,000 148

15 October 2004 Dividend reinvestment plan (e) 703,157 2,144

17 March 2005 Dividend reinvestment plan (f) 67,562 145

April to June 2005 Shares bought back on-market and cancelled (g) (275,721) (723)

27 June 2005 Exercise of options – Employee (h) 25,000 67

30 June 2005 Closing balance 85,948,771 75,934

27 September 2005 Dividend reinvestment plan (i) 139,912 437

11 January 2006 Exercise of options – Employee (h) 90,000

Proceeds received 379

Transfer from share-based payment reserve 19

28 April 2006 Exercise of options – Employee (h) 40,000

Proceeds received 157

Transfer from share-based payment reserve 19

28 April 2006 Dividend reinvestment plan (j) 129,998 798

July 2005 to December 2005 Shares bought back on-market and cancelled (g) (376,167) (1,268)

20 March to 30 June 2006 Andean Takeover Offer (k) 2,619,027 15,616 

30 June 2006 Closing balance 88,591,541 92,091
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(c) Ordinary Shares
Ordinary shares have no par value and entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the 
number of shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a 
poll each share is entitled to one vote. Details of share options are disclosed in Note 22.

(d) Directors Options
Information relating to the Directors options, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year and options outstanding 
at the end of the financial year is set out in Note 28.

(e) Dividend Reinvestment Plan
The Company has established a dividend reinvestment plan under which holders of ordinary shares may elect to have their dividend entitlement satisfied 
by the issue of new ordinary shares rather than by being paid in cash.

703,157 fully paid ordinary shares were issued as part of the final dividend under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan at $3.05 each.

(f) Dividend Reinvestment Plan
67,562 fully paid ordinary shares were issued as part of the interim dividend under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan at $2.15 each.

(g) Share Buy Back 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2006 the Company purchased and cancelled 376,167 ordinary shares representing 0.4 % of ordinary share 
capital. The shares were acquired at an average price of $3.35 per share, with prices ranging from $2.79 to $4.07. Share buy-back transaction costs 
amounted to $8,829. The on-market buyback remains in effect at the date of this report.

(h) Employees and Contractors Option Plan
Information relating to the Kingsgate Employees and Contractors Option Plan, including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the 
financial year and options outstanding at the end of the financial year is set out in Note 22.

(i) Dividend Reinvestment Plan
139,912 fully paid ordinary shares were issued as part of the interim dividend under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan at $3.12 each.

(j) Dividend Reinvestment Plan
129,998 fully paid ordinary shares were issued as part of the interim dividend under the Company’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan at $6.14 each.

(k) Andean Takeover Offer
Kingsgate offered Andean shareholders 1 Kingsgate ordinary share for every 15 Andean shares held. This resulted in Kingsgate issuing 2,619,027 shares at 
an average of $5.96 per share.
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17. RESERVES AND RETAINED PROFITS

Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Reserves

Foreign currency translation reserve 2,369 (10,504) – –

General reserve 1,026 1,026 – –

Available–for–sale investment revaluation reserve (955) – 2,856 –

Hedging reserve (26,835) – – –

Share–based payment reserve 766 111 766 111

(23,629) (9,367) 3,622 111

Movements:

Foreign currency translation reserve

At the beginning of the financial year (10,504) – – –

Net exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled entities 12,873 (10,504) – –

 At the end of the financial year 2,369 (10,504) – –

General reserve

At the beginning of the financial year 1,026 1,026 – –

At the end of the financial year 1,026 1,026 – –

Available–for–sale investment revaluation reserve

At the beginning of the financial year – – – –

Revaluation (955) – 2,856 –

At the end of the financial year (955) – 2,856 –

Hedging reserve

At the beginning of the financial year – – – –

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 (Note 15) (24,475) – – –

Revaluation (9,416)

Transferred to the income statement 7,056 – – –

At the end of the financial year (26,835) – – –

Share–based payment reserve

At the beginning of the financial year 111 64 111 64

Option expense 694 47 694 47

Transfer to share capital (Options exercised) (39) – (39) –

At the end of the financial year 766 111 766 111
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Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entities are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in Note 1(d).

General Reserve 
Pursuant to the laws of Thailand, Akara Mining Limited appropriated to a reserve fund at each distribution of dividends, an amount equal to one-
twentieth of the profit after tax payment until the reserve fund reached one-tenth of its registered capital. The reserve fund is now equal to one-tenth of 
the registered share capital of Akara Mining Limited.

Available-for-sale Investment Revaluation Reserve
Changes in the fair value of investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets are taken to the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve, 
as described in Note 1(m).

Hedging Reserve
The hedging reserve is used to record unrealised gains and losses on effective hedging instruments, as described in Note 1(n).

Share-based Payments Reserve
The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued but not exercised as described in Note 1(x).

(b) Retained Profits
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

Movements in retained profits were as follows: $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year 54,662 58,244 553 4,073

Adjustment on adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139 (Note 15) (3,109) – – –

Net profit attributable to members of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited 16,662 8,391 8,148 8,453

Dividends provided for or paid (Note 20) (8,669) (11,973) (8,669) (11,973)

Retained profits at the end of the financial year 59,546 54,662 32 553

18. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
Capital Commitments
Commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year 460 194 – –



FINANCIAL REPORT
www.kingsgate.com.au

73

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 June 2006

Operating Leases
Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year 1,566 1,511 163 163

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 7,600 13,429 191 354

Later than 5 years 4 2,543 – –

9,170 17,483 354 517

Remuneration Commitments 

Within 1 year 1,222 1,060 500 500

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 375 875 375 875

1,597 1,935 875 1,375

19. INVESTMENTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the ultimate parent entity, Kingsgate Consolidated Limited, and the 
following subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1(b).

Name of Entity
Country of
Incorporation

Class of
Shares

Equity
Holding

Parent Entity
Cost

2006 2005 2006 2005

% % $ $

Issara Mining Limited Thailand Ordinary 100 100 – –

Richaphum Limited Thailand Ordinary 100 100 – –

Naka Udsahakum Limited Thailand Ordinary 100 100 – –

Akara Mining Limited Thailand Ordinary 100 100 – –

Kingsgate Capital Pty Limited Australia Ordinary 100 100 1 1

Kingsgate South America Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100 100 1 1

Minera Kingsgate Limited Chile Ordinary 100 100 2 2

Kingsgate Peru SRL Peru Ordinary 100 100 274 274

Parasol Limited’s name was changed to Richaphum Limited during the financial year.

Kingsgate South America Pty Ltd was incorporated in Australia on 23 February 2006.

Minera Kingsgate Limited and Kingsgate Peru SRL depend on funding from the Group to sustain exploration activities. 
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20. DIVIDENDS
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Final 2005 unfranked dividend of 5 cents per share (2004 – 12 cents) paid on 27 September 2005 4,286 10,251 4,286 10,251

Interim 2006 unfranked dividend of 5 cents per share (2005 – 2 cents) paid on 28 April 2006 4,383 1,722 4,383 1,722

Total dividends provided for or paid 8,669 11,973 8,669 11,973

Paid in cash 7,434 9,684 7,434 9,684

Satisfied by issue of shares 1,235 2,289 1,235 2,289

8,669 11,973 8,669 11,973

Dividends Not Recognised at Year End
In addition to the above dividends, since year end the Directors have declared a final  
2006 unfranked dividend of 5 cents per share (2005 – 5 cents). The aggregate amount  
of the proposed dividend expected to be paid on the 3 October 2006 but not yet recognised  
as a liability at year end is 4,513 4,286 4,513 4,286

The Groups franking credit balance at 30 June 2006 is Nil (2005: Nil).

21. RELATED PARTIES
Transactions with Related Parties
Information on remuneration of Directors is disclosed in Note 28. A Director of a controlled entity, S Udompornwirat, is a Director and shareholder of 
Suan Sak Patana Limited. Transactions with this company comprise:

Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$  $ $  $

Loans advanced – Non current 43,492,673 22,448,090 – –

Interest received 1,511,290 957,904 – –

Rentals paid 1,957,870 1,357,753 – –

Loans have been advanced to Suan Sak Patana Limited to acquire prospective land for exploration purposes. In accordance with the regulations of 
Thailand foreign corporations are prevented from acquiring land. These advances have been disclosed as exploration expenditure being the first phase of 
the exploration and evaluation process.

Interest is charged on the loans advanced at the rate of 4% per annum (2005 – 4%). Rentals relate to land used by the Group for gold mining and exploration.

All transactions with Director-related entities were based on normal commercial terms and conditions.
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Wholly-owned Group 
The wholly-owned group consists of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and its wholly-owned controlled entities. A list of the controlled entities and the 
ownership interest is set out in Note 19.

Transactions between Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and controlled entities during the years ended 30 June 2006 and 30 June 2005 consisted of 
loans advanced by and assignment of liabilities to Kingsgate Consolidated Limited. The loans do not bear interest. Management fees of $600,000 (2005 
– $600,000) were received from Akara Mining Limited during the year. 

Aggregate amounts receivable from controlled entities at balance date were as follows.

Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non–current receivables

Wholly owned subsidiaries (Note 7) – – 87,661 50,925

During the year the Parent Entity advanced $31,477,977 (2005 – $21,598,000) to controlled entities.

Controlling Entities
The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is Kingsgate Consolidated Limited.

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Employee Benefit and Related On–costs Liabilities

Provision for employee benefits – current 712 724 – 79

Provision has been made for annual leave and Thai severance pay.
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

Employee Numbers

Average number of employees during the financial year 294 292 8 6

Superannuation 
The Group makes contributions on behalf of employees to externally managed defined contribution superannuation funds. Contributions are based on 
percentages of employees’ wages and salaries.
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Kingsgate Employees and Contractors Option Plan
On 28 November 2001, shareholders at the annual general meeting approved the special resolution to establish the Kingsgate Employees and Contractors 
Option Plan 2001. Under this plan 2,500,000 options may be issued to employees and contractors of the Group (excluding Directors of the Company). 
This plan has similar option terms as the option plan established in 1998 which authorised the Directors to issue up to 500,000 options to employees and 
contractors of the Group (excluding Directors of the Company). 

The terms of the options issued pursuant to the plan are as follows:

(f)	 the exercise period for the options is three years from the date the options are granted.
(g)	� each option will entitle the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company and the exercise price for each option will be 10% above the 

average closing sale price of the Company’s ordinary fully paid shares on the Australian Stock Exchange over the five trading days preceding the day 
on which options are issued (but in any event not less than 20 cents).

(h)	options are granted under the plan to eligible employees and contractors for no consideration.
(i)	 options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.
(j)	 set out below are summaries of options granted under the plans.

Full details of the Employee Option Plan are disclosed in the Share Option Plan rules which were approved by shareholders in November 2001, a copy of 
which can be obtained from the Company.

Consolidated and Parent Entity – 2006

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price
Balance  

Start of Year
Granted  

During Year
Exercised 

During Year
Expired  

During Year
Balance  

End of Year
Exercisable  
End of Year

11 July 2002 11 July 2005 $2.66 17,000 – – 17,000 – –

5 Feb 2003 5 Feb 2006 $4.44 50,000 – 50,000 – – –

3 Nov 2003 28 Aug 2006 $4.16 40,000 – – 40,000 – –

29 Jan 2004 29 Jan 2007 $3.93 180,000 – 80,000 40,000 60,000 60,000

Total 287,000 – 130,000 97,000 60,000 60,000

Weighted average exercise price 3.98 – 4.13 3.80 3.93 3.93

Consolidated and Parent Entity – 2005

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price
Balance  

Start of Year
Granted  

During Year
Exercised 

During Year
Expired  

During Year
Balance  

End of Year
Exercisable  
End of Year

28 Nov 2001 28 Nov 2004 $1.48* 100,000 – 100,000 – – –

11 July 2002 11 July 2005 $2.66 42,000 – 25,000 – 17,000 17,000

5 Feb 2003 5 Feb 2006 $4.44 50,000 – – – 50,000 50,000

3 Nov 2003 15 Apr 2008 $3.74 150,000 – – 150,000 – –

3 Nov 2003 28 Aug 2006 $4.16 40,000 – – – 40,000 40,000

29 Jan 2004 29 Jan 2007 $3.93 180,000 – – – 180,000 180,000

Total 562,000 – 125,000 150,000 287,000 287,000

Weighted average exercise price 3.41 – 1.72 3.74 3.98 3.98

* Director options

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
30 June 2006
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Kingsgate Executive Option Plan
The terms of the options issued pursuant to the plan are as follows:
(a) each option will entitle the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company.
(b) options are granted under the plan for no consideration.
(c) options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights.
(d) set out below are summaries of options granted under the plans.

Consolidated and Parent Entity – 2006

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price
Balance  

Start of Year
Granted  

During Year
Exercised 

During Year
Balance  

End of Year
Exercisable  
End of Year

31 Mar 2005 1 Apr 2010 $2.69 60,000 – – 60,000 60,000

7 July 2005 1 July 2010 $4.00 – 500,000 – 500,000 –

7 July 2005 1 July 2010 $5.00 – 500,000 – 500,000 –

7 July 2005 1 July 2010 $6.00 – 500,000 – 500,000 –

7 July 2005 1 July 2010 $7.00 – 1,000,000 – 1,000,000 –

26 Oct 2005 26 Oct 2010 $3.00 – 50,000 – 50,000 50,000

26 Oct 2005 26 Oct 2010 $4.00 – 30,000 – 30,000 –

26 Oct 2005 26 Oct 2010 $5.00 – 80,000 – 80,000 –

26 Oct 2005 26 Oct 2010 $6.00 – 80,000 – 80,000 –

26 Oct 2005 1 Aug 2010 $3.25 – 25,000 – 25,000 –

26 Oct 2005 1 Aug 2010 $4.00 – 50,000 – 50,000 –

26 Oct 2005 1 Aug 2010 $5.00 – 100,000 – 100,000 –

26 Oct 2005 1 Aug 2010 $6.00 – 100,000 – 100,000 –

26 Oct 2005 1 Aug 2010 $7.00 – 125,000 – 125,000 –

Total 60,000 3,140,000 – 3,200,000 110,000

Weighted average exercise price 2.69 5.70 – 5.65 2.83

The share prices at the grant dates were $2.82 at 7 July 2005 and $4.03 at 26 October 2005.

Valuation of options at grant date are disclosed in Note 28.

On 7 July 2006, 400,000 options were issued with an exercise price of $5.50 to $8.00, expiring 1 July 2011 and the vesting periods from 1 July 2007 to  
1 July 2009.

Consolidated and Parent Entity – 2005

Grant Date Expiry Date Exercise Price
Balance  

Start of Year
Granted  

During Year
Exercised  

During Year
Balance  

End of Year
Exercisable  
End of Year

31 Mar 2005 1 Apr 2010 $2.69 – 60,000 – 60,000 60,000

Weighted average exercise price 2.69 – – 2.69 2.69

The share price at the grant date of 31 March 2005 was $2.26 per share.

The fair value of shares issued on the exercise of options is the weighted average price at which the Company’s shares were traded on the Australian Stock 
Exchange on the day prior to the exercise of the options.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 4.0 years (2005 – 1.1 years)
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Fair Value of Options Granted
The fair value at grant date is determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, 
the share price at grant date, the expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term 
of the option.

The model inputs for options granted during the year ended 30 June 2006 included:
(a) Options are granted for no consideration.
(b) Expected price volatility of the Company’s shares: 40% (2005 – 40%).
(c) Expected dividend yield: 4.4% (2005 – 5%).
(d) Risk-free interest rate: 5.2% (2005 – 5.2%).

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information. 

Expense Arising From Share-based Payment Transactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit expense were as follows:

Consolidated Parent Entity

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

2006
$’000

2005
$’000

Options issued under executive option plan 694 65 694 65

23. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Profit from ordinary activities after related income tax expense 16,662 8,391 8,148 8,453

Depreciation and amortisation 7,805 8,720 50 35

Non–cash employee benefit expense – share–based payments 694 47 694 47

Amortisation of Borrowing costs 216 216 216 216

Gains on derivative financial instruments (7,056) – – –

Net exchange differences (193) (135) (579) 49

Change in Operating Assets and Liabilities

(Increase) decrease in debtors 2,602 (715) 102 (51)

(Increase) decrease in inventories (310) 1,788 – –

(Increase) decrease in other operating assets (935) 197 (62) (41)

Increase (decrease) in creditors 1,906 2,420 824 135

Increase (decrease) in provisions 498 339 (79) (10)

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities – 916 – –

Net cash inflow from operating activities 21,889 22,184 9,314 8,833
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24. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER REPORTING DATE

Dividend
On 28 August 2006, the Directors of the Parent Entity declared a final unfranked dividend of 5 cents per share. The record date for the dividend is  
21 September 2006 with payment due on 3 October 2006. 

Take Over Bid for Andean Resources NL
On 11 July 2006, the all-scrip off market takeover bid for Andean closed. The Consolidated Entity now controls 64,303,104 fully paid ordinary Andean 
shares giving it a strategic 22.38% holdings in Andean.

Grant of Special Prospecting Licences
On 17 August 2006 the Company announced that its Thai subsidiaries have been granted 51 of the 101 Special Prospecting Licences (SPL) currently under 
application surrounding Chatree Gold Mine. A fee of approximately $450,000 is payable at the time the licences are issued and a deposit or security of 
approximately $980,000 is also due at that time.

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The parent entity and Group had contingent liabilities at 30 June 2006 in respect of:

Guarantees
Cross guarantees have been given by Kingsgate Consolidated Limited’s controlled entities to the four banks in the revolving credit facility as part of the 
security package as described in Note 12. 

These guarantees may give rise to liabilities in the Parent Entity if the controlled entities do not meet their obligations under the terms of the loans 
subject to the guarantees. No material losses are anticipated in respect of the above contingent liabilities.

26. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Primary Reporting – Business Segments
The Group operates exclusively in one business segment of gold mining and exploration.

Secondary reporting – Geographical Segments
The Group operates in primarily two geographical segments, being Asia Pacific and South America.

Consolidated

2006 2005

$’000 $’000

Sales to external customers:

Asia Pacific 72,782 64,299

Other revenue:

 Asia Pacific 1,361 2,471

74,143 66,770

Segment Results:

Asia Pacific 19,437 10,221

South America (2,775) (1,830)

16,662 8,391

Segment Assets:

Asia Pacific 162,992 135,346

South America 1,605 662

164,597 136,008

Capital Expenditure:

Asia Pacific 34,774 38,029

South America 1,461 113

36,235 38,142
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND INSTRUMENTS	
Financial Risk Management 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and commodity price risk), 
credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as 
commodity contracts to hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Board 
provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as mitigating commodity price, foreign 
exchange, interest rate and credit risks and investing excess liquidity.

(a) Market Risk

(i) Price Risk
The Group’s major commodity price exposure is to the price of gold. At 30 June 2006, Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and certain of its controlled entities 
had committed to the following commodity contracts.

Maturity Quantity Hedged Average Price

2006
Ounces

2005
Ounces

2006
A$/oz

2005
A$/oz

Put options bought (A$):

Within 1 year 31,500 38,500 570 570

1 to 2 years 14,000 31,500 570 570

2 to 3 years – 14,000 – 570

Maturity Quantity Hedged Average Price

2006
Ounces

2005
Ounces

2006
US$/oz

2005
US$/oz

Put options bought (US$):

Within 1 year 73,500 82,750 306 304

1 to 2 years 22,500 73,500 330 306

2 to 3 years – 22,500 – 330

Call options sold * (US$):

Within 1 year 58,500 82,750 317 321

1 to 2 years 280 73,500 360 326

2 to 3 years – 22,500 – 360

* �US$ call options include 58,500 ounces (2005: A$130,000 ounces) of path dependent options, with a knock-out feature. Barriers range between  
US$301/oz and US$303/oz and are active in discrete time periods prior to the options expiry date. 

The mark to market loss relating from these commodity contracts at 30 June 2006 was A$23,187,000 (2005: A$27,883,000).

The A$ Puts and 58,500 ounces of the US$ collars have been designated as effective cash flow hedges.
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The Group uses an external consultant to estimate the fair value of its commodity contracts based on well established option pricing models and market 
conditions existing at the balance sheet date. 

(ii) Foreign Exchange Risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the 
Group’s functional currency. 

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risks. This includes significant assets held in Thai Baht and sales made in US Dollars. 

Movements in foreign currencies are monitored by the Group and the Board has set limits on foreign currency hedging. The Group has also entered 
into commodity contracts denominated in Australian Dollars to mitigate part of this risk. At 30 June 2006 the Group had not entered into any foreign 
currency hedging contracts.

(b) Credit Risk 
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial 
institutions. The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. 

(c) Interest Rate Risk
The Group exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity periods is set out in the following table. For interest 
rates applicable to each class of asset or liability refer to individual Notes to the financial statements. Exposures arise predominantly from assets and 
liabilities bearing variable interest rates.

Fixed Interest Maturing in:

Notes
Floating

Interest Rate
1 year
or less 1 to 2 years

More Than
2 years

Non–interest 
Bearing Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2006

Financial Assets

Cash 6 9,029 – – – 1,362 10,391

Receivables 7 – – – – 1,398 1,398

9,029 – – – 2,760 11,789

Weighted average interest rate 3.9%

Financial Liabilities

Payables 13 – – – – 8,948 8,948

Net financial assets (liabilities) 9,029 – – – (6,188) 2,841
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Fixed Interest Maturing in:

Notes
Floating

Interest Rate
1 year

or Less 1 to 2 Years
More Than

2 Years
Non–interest 

Bearing Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2005

Financial Assets

Cash 6 30,892 – – 1,227 32,119

Receivables 7 – – – – 5,989 5,989

30,892 – – – 7,216 38,108

Weighted average interest rate 5.2%

Financial Liabilities

Payables 13 – – – – 7,184 7,184

Net financial assets (liabilities) 30,892 – – – 32 30,924

(d) Liquidity Risk
The Group constantly monitors liquidity requirements and liquidity management is carried out under policies approved by the Board. 

(e) Fair Values
The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group approximate their 
carrying amounts.

The net fair value of other monetary financial assets and financial liabilities is based upon market prices where a market exists or by discounting the 
expected future cash flows by the current interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk profiles. The carrying amounts and net fair values of 
financial assets and liabilities at balance date are:

2006 2005

Carrying 
amount 

$’000

Net fair  
value  
$’000

Carrying  
amount  

$’000

Net fair  
value  
$’000

Financial Assets

Cash 10,391 10,391 32,119 32,119

Receivables 1,398 1,398 5,989 5,989

Available–for–sale financial assets 20,385 20,385 – –

32,174 32,174 38,108 38,108

Financial Liabilities

Payables 8,763 8,763 7,184 7,184

Derivative financial instruments 23,187 23,187 – 27,883

31,950 31,950 7,184 35,067
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28. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
(a) Directors
The following persons were Directors of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited during the financial year:

Chairman – Non-Executive 
Ross Smyth-Kirk 

Non-Executive Directors  
John Falconer 
Peter McAleer

(b) Other Key Management Personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group during the financial year:

Name Position Employer

Gavin Thomas Chief Executive Officer Kingsgate Consolidated Limited

Stephen Promnitz Corporate Development Manager Kingsgate Consolidated Limited

Peter Warren Chief Financial Officer Kingsgate Consolidated Limited

Surapol Udompornwirat Executive Vice President Akara Mining Limited

Phil MacIntyre General Manager, Chatree Gold Mine Akara Mining Limited

Ron James General Manager, Exploration and Resource Development Akara Mining Limited

All of the above persons were also key management personnel during the years ended 30 June 2006 and 2005, with the exception of:

• Stephen Promnitz who commenced employment 1 August 2005.

• Peter Warren who commenced employment 13 March 2006.

• Marcus Tomkinson who resigned 15 July 2005.

• Niall Lenahan who resigned 31 January 2006.

(c) Key Management Personnel Compensation
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$ $ $ $

Short‑term employee benefits 1,715,353 1,346,156 1,173,962 870,545

Post‑employment benefits 70,130 54,505 286,922 –

Share‑based payments 694,436 65,454 538,691 54,229

The Company has taken advantage of the relief provided by Corporations Regulations CR2M .6.04 and has transferred the detailed remuneration 
disclosures to the Directors’ report. The relevant information can be found in sections A‑C of the remuneration report on pages 28 to 34.
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(d) Equity Instrument Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel

i) Share Holdings
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and each of the key 
management personnel of the Group, including their personally-related entities, are set out below.

2006
Balance at the  

Start of the Year

Received During  
the Year on the  

Exercise of Options
Other Changes  

During the Year
Balance at the  

End of the YearName

Directors of Kingsgate Consolidated  
Limited Ordinary Shares

Ross Smyth–Kirk 4,252,380 – 333,891 4,586,271

John Falconer 147,095 – 42,196 189,291

Peter McAleer 380,000 – – 380,000

Key Management Personnel of  
the Group Ordinary Shares

Gavin Thomas 14,741 – 689,180 703,921

Niall Lenahan 6,706 90,000 (96,706) –

Surapol Udompornwirat – 40,000 (40,000) –

Phil MacIntyre 95,000 – – 95,000

Ron James – – – –

Arthur Ellis 31,200 – (6,328) 24,872

2005
Balance at the  

Start of the Year

Received During  
the Year on the  

Exercise of Options
Other Changes  

During the Year
Balance at the  

end of the yearName

Directors of Kingsgate Consolidated  
Limited Ordinary Shares

Ross Smyth–Kirk 4,252,380 – – 4,252,380

John Falconer 145,740 – 1,355 147,095

Peter McAleer 280,000 100,000* – 380,000

John Shaw 113,074 – (113,074) –

Steve Reid 1,000 – – 1,000

Key Management Personnel of the  
Group Ordinary Shares

Gavin Thomas 14,741 – – 14,741

Niall Lenahan 3,506 – 3,200 6,706

Surapol Udompornwirat – – – –

Phil MacIntyre 95,000 – – 95,000

Ron James – – – –

Arthur Ellis 33,000 – (1,800) 31,200

* The amount paid per ordinary share by Peter McAleer on the exercise of options at the date of exercise was $1.48 per share.
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(ii) Options Provided as Remuneration and Shares issued on Exercise of Such Options
Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with terms and conditions of the options, can be 
found in section D of the remuneration report on pages 35 to 40.

(iii) Option Holdings
The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited and each 
of the specified executives of the Group, including their personally-related entities, are set out below.

Key Management Personnel

2006 Balance  
at the Start  
of the Year

Granted/ (Expired)
During the Year

Exercised During 
the Year

Other Changes 
During the Year

Balance  
at the End  
of the Year

Vested and 
Exercisable at the 

End of the YearName

Gavin Thomas 60,000 2,500,000 – – 2,560,000 60,000

Stephen Promnitz – 400,000 – – 400,000 25,000

Peter Warren – – – – – –

Niall Lenahan 90,000 – 90,000* – – –

Marcus Tomkinson 80,000 (80,000) – – – –

Surapol Udompornwirat 40,000 – 40,000^ – – –

Phil MacIntyre 40,000 150,000 – – 190,000 90,000

Ron James – 90,000 – – 90,000 –

Arthur Ellis 20,000 – – – 20,000 20,000

* 90,000 ordinary shares were issued on the 11 January 2006 when the share was $5.05 per share.
^ 40,000 ordinary shares were issued on the 28 April 2006 when the share was $5.84 per share.

Options granted during the year are provided as remuneration. No options are vested and unexercisable at the end of the year.

2005 Balance  
at the Start  
of the Year

Granted/ (Expired)
During the Year

Exercised During 
the Year

Other Changes 
During the Year

Balance  
at the End  
of the Year

Vested and 
Exercisable at the 

End of the YearName

Directors of Kingsgate 
Consolidated Limited

Steve Reid 167,000 (167,000) – – – –

Peter McAleer 100,000 – 100,000 – – –

Other Key Management 
Personnel

Gavin Thomas – 60,000 – – 60,000 60,000

Niall Lenahan 90,000 – – – 90,000 90,000

Marcus Tomkinson 80,000 – – – 80,000 80,000

Surapol Udompornwirat 40,000 – – – 40,000 40,000

Phil MacIntyre 40,000 – – – 40,000 40,000

Ron James – – – – – –

Arthur Ellis 20,000 – – – 20,000 20,000
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Insurance
During the financial year, the Group paid premiums to insure Directors and Officers of the Group. The contracts include a prohibition on disclosure of the 
premium paid and nature of the liabilities covered under the policy. 

29. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the year the auditor of the parent entity and its related practices earned the following remuneration:

Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$ $ $ $

PricewaterhouseCoopers – Australian Firm

Audit and review of financial reports of the entity or any entity in the Group 215,480 164,545 199,480 164,545

Other assurance services 176,050 15,292 176,050 15,292

Taxation 44,075 70,207 44,075 64,207

Total remuneration 435,605 250,044 419,605 244,044

Related practices of PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian Firm  
(including overseas PricewaterhouseCoopers firms)

Audit or review of financial reports of the entity or any entity in the Group 86,111 78,442 – –

Taxation – – – 6,000

Total remuneration 86,111 78,442 – 6,000

30. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Consolidated

2006 2005

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 19.3 9.8

Diluted earnings per share 19.3 9.8

$’000 $’000

Net profit used to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share 16,662 8,391

Number Number

Weighted Average Number of Shares Used as the Denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic earnings per share 86,292,943 85,901,267

Adjustment for calculation of diluted earnings per share: Options 132,444 700

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating 
diluted earnings per share 86,425,387 85,901,967

Options
Options granted to employees and Directors are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earnings 
per share. The options have not been included in the determination of basic earnings per share. Details relating to the options are set out in Note 22.
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31. NON CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated Parent Entity

2006 2005 2006 2005

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Acquisition of Available for Sale Financial Assets 15,616 – – –

The Parent Entity issued 1 fully paid ordinary share for every 15 Andean Resources NL shares. Refer to Note 2 for further information.

32. IMPACT OF ADOPTING AUSTRALIAN EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS
Reconciliation of Equity as Presented Under AGAAP to that Under AIFRS

Consolidated Parent Entity

Notes 30 June
2005

1 July 
2004

30 June
2005

1 July 
2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Total Equity Under AGAAP 123,030 135,046 76,598 78,290

Adjustments to Retained Earnings Net of Tax

Derecognition of foreign currency translation reserve (i) (10,368) (10,368) – –

Recognition of share–based payments (ii) (111) (64) (111) (64)

Adjustment to restoration and rehabilitation provision (iii) (958) (612)

Revenue recognition (iv) (843) (946) – –

(12,280) (11,990) (111) (64)

Adjustments to Other Reserves 

Foreign currency translation reserve (i) 10,368 10,368 – –

Share–based payment reserve (ii) 111 64 111 64

10,479 10,432 111 64

Total Equity Under AIFRS 121,229 133,488 76,598 78,290



Reconciliation of Net Assets Under AGAAP to that Under AIFRS
Consolidated Parent Entity

Notes 30 June
2005

1 July 
2004

30 June
2005

1 July 
2004

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Net Assets Under AGAAP 123,030 135,046 76,598 78,290

Receivables (iv) (1,989) (2,570) – –

Inventories (iv) 1,147 1,624 – –

Mine property, plant and equipment (iii) 1,602 1,803 – –

Provisions (iii) (2,561) (2,415) – –

Net Assets Under AIFRS 121,229 133,488 76,598 78,290

Reconciliation on Adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139
As at 1 July 2005

Consolidated Parent Entity

Notes $’000 $’000

Total Equity Under AIFRS – 30 June 2005 121,229 76,598

Retained profits (v) (3,109) –

Reserves (v) (24,475) –

Total Equity Under AIFRS – 1 July 2005 93,645 76,598

Net Assets Under AIFRS – 30 June 2005 121,229 76,598

Derivative financial instruments – Other assets (v) (3,340) –

Derivative financial liabilities (v) (24,244) –

Net Assets Under AIFRS – 1 July 2005 93,645 76,598
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Reconciliation of Net Profit Under AGAAP to that Under AIFRS 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2005

Consolidated Parent Entity

Notes $’000 $’000

Net Profit as Reported Under AGAAP 8,680 8,500

Recognition of share–based payments (ii) (47) (47)

Adjustment for restoration and rehabilitation provision (iii) (345) –

Revenue recognition (iv) 103 –

Net Profit Under AIFRS 8,391 8,453

(i) Foreign Currency Translation Reserve: Cumulative Translation Differences
On the initial application of AIFRS, the Group elected to apply the exemption on AASB 1 First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards relating to the balance of the foreign currency translation reserve. The cumulative translation differences for all foreign 
operations represented in the foreign currency translation reserve were deemed to be zero at the date of translation to AIFRS.

(ii) Share-based Payments
Under AASB 2 Share-based Payments, from 1 July 2004 the Group is required to recognise an expense for those options that were issued to employees 
and Directors under the Kingsgate Employees and Contractors Option Plan after 7 November 2002 but that had not vested by 1 January 2005.

(iii) Restoration and Rehabilitation Provision
Under AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment an asset and liability were recorded 
for the estimated, discounted future rehabilitation costs. The increase in the rehabilitation provision relating to the unwinding of the discount and 
depreciation on the rehabilitation asset has been recognised in the income statement. 

(iv) Revenue Recognition
Under AASB 118 Revenue, the point of sale is recognised when the refinery process has been finalised and the sale transaction to a third party has  
been completed.

(v) Adoption of AASB 132 and AASB 139
The Group has taken the exemption under AASB 1 to apply AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement from 1 July 2005. As a result comparative figures have not been adjusted.

At the date of transition to these standards of 1 July 2005 commodity contracts were recognised at fair value which resulted in an increase in liabilities 
of $27,584,000. $24,475,000 was recorded in the hedging reserve, representing the effective portion of the commodity contracts that are designated and 
qualify as cash flow hedges. $3,109,000 was recorded in retained earnings for the ineffective portion of these commodity contracts. 

$3,340,000 was transferred from derivative financial instruments – other assets to liabilities so that a net derivative financial liability is disclosed.
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The Directors declare that the financial statements and Notes set out on pages 2 to 68:

(a) comply with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and

(b) �give a true and fair view of the Company’s and Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2006 and of their performance, as represented by the results of 
their operations and their cash flows, for the financial year ended on that date.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations 
Act for the financial year ended 30 June 2006.

In the Directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and Notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

DATED at SYDNEY this 29 August 2006 
On behalf of the Board

Ross Smyth-Kirk 
Director

John Falconer 
Director

Directors’ Declaration
30 June 2006

90



Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
ABN 52 780 433 757 

Darling Park Tower 2 
201 Sussex Street 
GPO BOX 2650 
SYDNEY  NSW  1171 
DX 77 Sydney 
Australia 
www.pwc.com/au 
Telephone +61 2 8266 0000 
Facsimile +61 2 8266 9999 

Independent audit report to the members of 
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited 
financial report 
This audit report relates to the financial report and remuneration disclosures of Kingsgate 
Consolidated Limited (the Company) and the Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Group (defined 
below) for the financial year ended 30 June 2006 included on Kingsgate Consolidated Limited’s 
web site.  The Company’s directors are responsible for the integrity of the Kingsgate Consolidated 
Limited web site.  We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of this web site.  The audit 
report refers only to the financial report and remuneration disclosures identified below.  It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the 
financial report or remuneration report.  If users of this report are concerned with the inherent risks 
arising from electronic data communications they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the 
audited financial report and remuneration report to confirm the information included in the audited 
financial report and remuneration report presented on this web site. 

Audit opinion 
In our opinion

1. the financial report of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited: 

gives a true and fair view, as required by the Corporations Act 2001 in Australia, of the 
financial position of Kingsgate Consolidated Limited as at 30 June 2006, and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date,  
is presented in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and 
other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001; and 

2. the audited remuneration disclosures that are contained on pages 4 to 14 of the directors’ report 
comply with Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (AASB 124) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001.

This opinion must be read in conjunction with the rest of our audit report. 
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Scope

The financial report, remuneration disclosures and directors’ responsibility 

The financial report comprises the balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in equity, 
cash flow statement, accompanying notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration 
for Kingsgate Consolidated Limited (the company) and the Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Group 
(the consolidated entity), for the year ended 30 June 2006. 

The company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors and executives 
(remuneration disclosures) as required by AASB 124, under the heading “remuneration report” on 
pages 4 to 14 of the directors’ report, as permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001.

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and true and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. This includes responsibility for 
the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent 
and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the 
financial report. The directors are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the 
directors’ report. 

Audit approach 

We conducted an independent audit in order to express an opinion to the members of the company. 
Our audit was conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, in order to provide 
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of material misstatement and the 
remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and the Corporations Regulations 2001. The 
nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective 
testing, the inherent limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than 
conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material misstatements have 
been detected. For further explanation of an audit, visit our website 
http://www.pwc.com/au/financialstatementaudit.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents 
fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and other mandatory 
financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our understanding of 
the company’s financial position, and its performance as represented by the results of its 
operations, changes in equity and cash flows. We also performed procedures to assess whether the 
remuneration disclosures comply with AASB 124 and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included: 

examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report and remuneration disclosures, and 
assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors. 

Our procedures include reading the other information in the Annual Report to determine whether it 
contains any material inconsistencies with the financial report.  
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While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting 
when determining the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not designed to provide 
assurance on internal controls. 

Our audit did not involve an analysis of the prudence of business decisions made by directors or 
management.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian 
professional ethical pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Peter Buchholz Sydney 
Partner 29 August 2006 



Five Year Summary
For the years ended 30 June

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP AGAAP AGAAP

PRODUCTION

Ore mined (‘000 tonnes) 1,951 1,521 1,946 1,511 821

Ore treated (‘000 tonnes) 2,000 1,829 1,671 1,324 665

Head grade – Gold g/t
– Silver g/t

2.4
14.0

2.4
13.0

3.1
15.0

3.9
22.0

5.3
42.0

Gold recovery (%) 90.2 90.8 91.2 90.2 90.8

Gold poured (ounces) 140,071 126,550 149,979 154,484 91,185

Silver poured (ounces) 459,701 353,275 395,346 484,170 353,146

PROFIT AND LOSS (A$’000)

Sales Revenue 72,782 64,299 84,410 94,020 54,688

Other Revenue 1,361 2,471 2,370 627 1,818

Total Revenue 74,143 66,770 86,780 94,647 56,506

Operating Expenses 47,761 47,366 34,343 28,465 9,685

Administration & Other Costs 1,158 1,404 1,019 3,563 2,223

EBITDA 25,224 18,000 51,418 62,619 44,598

Depreciation & Amortisation 7,805 8,720 11,323 13,293 8,620

EBIT 17,419 9,280 40,095 49,326 35,978

Borrowing Costs 757 889 2,416 2,003 2,566

Operating profit/(loss) before income tax 16,662 8,391 37,679 47,323 33,412

Income tax expense/(credit) – – – – 390

Operating profit/(loss) after income 16,662 8,391 37,679 47,323 33,022

BALANCE SHEET (A$‘000)

Current assets – Cash
– Other

10,391
10,805

32,119
12,162

59,696
14,162

28,914
14,057

25,262
12,984

Non-Current assets 143,401 91,727 69,555 53,336 63,619

Total assets 164,597 136,008 143,413 96,307 101,865

Total debt – – – 18,694 44,448

Other liabilities 36,589 14,779 8,367 4,329 15,775

Total liabilities 36,589 14,779 8,367 23,023 60,223

Shareholders’ equity 128,008 121,229 135,046 73,284 41,642

OTHER INFORMATION

Average realised gold price on physical deliveries (US$/ounce) 355 401* 385 335 308

Average spot gold price (US$/ounce) 525 422 391 334 289

Cash cost (US$/ounce) 206 212 135 94 61

Total cost (US$/ounce) 247 262 189 143 116

Operating cash flow (A$’000) 21,889 22,184 49,294 56,956 28,937

Dividends paid (Cash & DRP) (A$’000) 8,669 11,973 17,631 19,927 –

Number of issued shares (000’) – Ordinary 88,592 85,949 85,329 72,869 71,649

Basic earnings per share (A$ Cents) 19.3 9.8 45.5 65.4 48.5

Dividends per share (A$ Cents) 10.0 7.0 22.0 25.0 15.0
* Excludes negative hedge adjustment of US$ 39 per oz

Substantial shareholders and their associates who have notified the Company are listed below.

Holder No. of shares held as disclosed in notices to the Company

Gold 2000 Ltd 5,845,000

Ross Smyth-Kirk 4,586,271

Distribution of equity securities as at 5 SEPTEMBER 2006

Size of Holding Number of Shareholders Fully paid Ordinary Shares Number of Option Holders

1 – 1,000 862 –

1,001 – 5,000 1186 –

5,001 – 10,000 306 –

10,001 – 100,000 301 2

100,001 – 53 4

2708 6

96 shareholders have less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

20 Largest Shareholders of Quoted Ordinary Shares as at 5 September 2006

No. of shares Percentage

1 Westpac Custodian Nominees 17,672,726 19.58%

2 National Nominees Limited 12,311,005 13.64%

3 ANZ Nominees Limited Cash Income A/C 11,681,954 12.94%

4 J P Morgan Nominees Australia 6,178,259 6.84%

5 Smyth-Kirk Ross Donald 4,586,271 5.08%

6 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,257,208 3.61%

7 Bird Bruce Clayton (PO) 3,207,110 3.55%

8 HSBC Custody Nominees Australia 2,188,072 2.42%

9 Investment Queensland 1,917,872 2.12%

10 Willow Bend Station Pty Limited 1,401,408 1.55%

11 ANZ Nominees Limited Income Reinvest Plan 780,199 .86%

12 Maminda Pty Limited 733,533 .81%

13 Bahulu Pty Limited 694,376 .77%

14 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 644,572 .71%

15 Komor Christopher 551,407 .61%

16 AMP Life Limited 490,132 .54%

17 Grimwade Frederick Shepp 410,000 .45%

18 Doogary Investments Limited 380,000 .42%

19 Niwate Pty Ltd 300,006 .33%

20 Stuart Neill Francis 286,031 .32%

Total 69,672,141 77.15%

Unquoted equity securities as at 5 September 2006
There were 6 option holders holding 3,660,000 options under the Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Employees option plan. 

Voting Rights
(a)	 Ordinary shares
	 On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.
(b)	 Options
	 No voting rights.
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited 
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Five Year Summary
For the years ended 30 June

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

AIFRS AIFRS AGAAP AGAAP AGAAP

PRODUCTION

Ore mined (‘000 tonnes) 1,951 1,521 1,946 1,511 821

Ore treated (‘000 tonnes) 2,000 1,829 1,671 1,324 665

Head grade – Gold g/t
– Silver g/t

2.4
14.0

2.4
13.0

3.1
15.0

3.9
22.0

5.3
42.0

Gold recovery (%) 90.2 90.8 91.2 90.2 90.8

Gold poured (ounces) 140,071 126,550 149,979 154,484 91,185

Silver poured (ounces) 459,701 353,275 395,346 484,170 353,146

PROFIT AND LOSS (A$’000)

Sales Revenue 72,782 64,299 84,410 94,020 54,688

Other Revenue 1,361 2,471 2,370 627 1,818

Total Revenue 74,143 66,770 86,780 94,647 56,506

Operating Expenses 47,761 47,366 34,343 28,465 9,685

Administration & Other Costs 1,158 1,404 1,019 3,563 2,223

EBITDA 25,224 18,000 51,418 62,619 44,598

Depreciation & Amortisation 7,805 8,720 11,323 13,293 8,620

EBIT 17,419 9,280 40,095 49,326 35,978

Borrowing Costs 757 889 2,416 2,003 2,566

Operating profit/(loss) before income tax 16,662 8,391 37,679 47,323 33,412

Income tax expense/(credit) – – – – 390

Operating profit/(loss) after income 16,662 8,391 37,679 47,323 33,022

BALANCE SHEET (A$‘000)

Current assets – Cash
– Other

10,391
10,805

32,119
12,162

59,696
14,162

28,914
14,057

25,262
12,984

Non-Current assets 143,401 91,727 69,555 53,336 63,619

Total assets 164,597 136,008 143,413 96,307 101,865

Total debt – – – 18,694 44,448

Other liabilities 36,589 14,779 8,367 4,329 15,775

Total liabilities 36,589 14,779 8,367 23,023 60,223

Shareholders’ equity 128,008 121,229 135,046 73,284 41,642

OTHER INFORMATION

Average realised gold price on physical deliveries (US$/ounce) 355 401* 385 335 308

Average spot gold price (US$/ounce) 525 422 391 334 289

Cash cost (US$/ounce) 206 212 135 94 61

Total cost (US$/ounce) 247 262 189 143 116

Operating cash flow (A$’000) 21,889 22,184 49,294 56,956 28,937

Dividends paid (Cash & DRP) (A$’000) 8,669 11,973 17,631 19,927 –

Number of issued shares (000’) – Ordinary 88,592 85,949 85,329 72,869 71,649

Basic earnings per share (A$ Cents) 19.3 9.8 45.5 65.4 48.5

Dividends per share (A$ Cents) 10.0 7.0 22.0 25.0 15.0
* Excludes negative hedge adjustment of US$ 39 per oz

Substantial shareholders and their associates who have notified the Company are listed below.

Holder No. of shares held as disclosed in notices to the Company

Gold 2000 Ltd 5,845,000

Ross Smyth-Kirk 4,586,271

Distribution of equity securities as at 5 SEPTEMBER 2006

Size of Holding Number of Shareholders Fully paid Ordinary Shares Number of Option Holders

1 – 1,000 862 –

1,001 – 5,000 1186 –

5,001 – 10,000 306 –

10,001 – 100,000 301 2

100,001 – 53 4

2708 6

96 shareholders have less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

20 Largest Shareholders of Quoted Ordinary Shares as at 5 September 2006

No. of shares Percentage

1 Westpac Custodian Nominees 17,672,726 19.58%

2 National Nominees Limited 12,311,005 13.64%

3 ANZ Nominees Limited Cash Income A/C 11,681,954 12.94%

4 J P Morgan Nominees Australia 6,178,259 6.84%

5 Smyth-Kirk Ross Donald 4,586,271 5.08%

6 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 3,257,208 3.61%

7 Bird Bruce Clayton (PO) 3,207,110 3.55%

8 HSBC Custody Nominees Australia 2,188,072 2.42%

9 Investment Queensland 1,917,872 2.12%

10 Willow Bend Station Pty Limited 1,401,408 1.55%

11 ANZ Nominees Limited Income Reinvest Plan 780,199 .86%

12 Maminda Pty Limited 733,533 .81%

13 Bahulu Pty Limited 694,376 .77%

14 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 644,572 .71%

15 Komor Christopher 551,407 .61%

16 AMP Life Limited 490,132 .54%

17 Grimwade Frederick Shepp 410,000 .45%

18 Doogary Investments Limited 380,000 .42%

19 Niwate Pty Ltd 300,006 .33%

20 Stuart Neill Francis 286,031 .32%

Total 69,672,141 77.15%

Unquoted equity securities as at 5 September 2006
There were 6 option holders holding 3,660,000 options under the Kingsgate Consolidated Limited Employees option plan. 

Voting Rights
(a)	 Ordinary shares
	 On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.
(b)	 Options
	 No voting rights.
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Kingsgate Consolidated Limited 
ABN 42 000 837 472

Directors: 
Ross Smyth-Kirk (Chairman) 
John Falconer 
Peter Mcaleer

Chief Executive Officer: 
Gavin Thomas

Company Secretary: 
John Falconer

Stock Exchange Listing: 
Kingsgate Consolidated Limited is a company limited by shares, listed on the 
Australian Stock Exchange under the code KCN.

Registered Office and Principal Business Address: 
Level 8, 14 Martin Place, 
Sydney, New South Wales, 2000 
Tel + 61 2 8256 4800 Fax +61 2 8256 4810 
Email: info@kingsgate.com.au

Other Kingsgate Offices and Mine Site:

Bangkok Office Chatree Gold Mine

21st Floor
No.1 Soi Sifa
Phaholyothin Road
Phayathai
Bangkok 10400
Thailand
Tel +66 2 617 0771
Fax +66 2 617 0773

No. 99 Moo 9
Khao Chet Luk
Thap Khlo
Phichit 66230
Thailand
Tel +66 5 661 4195
Fax +66 5 661 4190

Exploration Office Chile Office

No.156 Moo 11 
Tambol Dong Khui
Amphoe Chon Daen
Petchabun 67190
Thailand
Tel +66 5 664 9253
Fax +66 5 664 9082

Office 51
Av. Providencia 2330
Santiago
Chile
Tel +562 234 9498
Fax +562 231 5651

Share Registry: 
Security Transfer Registrars Pty. Ltd. 
770 Canning Highway 
Applecross, Western Australia, 6153 
Tel +61 8 9315 0933 Fax +61 8 9315 2233

Auditors: 
Pricewaterhousecoopers 
201 Sussex Street, 
Sydney, New South Wales, 2000

Bankers:

HSBC Bank Australia Limited 
28 Bridge Street, Sydney, New South Wales, 2000

Commonwealth Bank of Australia
385 Bourke Street, Melbourne, Victoria, 3000

Macquarie Bank Limited
1 Martin Place, Sydney, New South Wales, 2000

Investec Bank (Australia) Limited
Level 31, The Chifley Tower, 
2 Chifley Square, Sydney, New South Wales, 2000

Controlled Entities: 
Kingsgate Capital Pty Limited (Incorporated in Australia)

Kingsgate South America Pty Ltd (Incorporated in Australia 23 February 2006)

Akara Mining Limited (Incorporated in Thailand)

Issara Mining Limited (Incorporated in Thailand)

Naka Udsahakum Limited (Incorporated in Thailand)

Richaphum Limited (Incorporated in Thailand) (Formally Parasol Limited)

Minera Kingsgate Limited (Incorporated in Chile)

Kingsgate Peru SRL (Incorporated in Peru)

Mining Leases: 
Mining leases covering the Chatree gold mine were granted by the Thai 
Ministry of Industry.

EPM application 12409 is held 100% by the Company. It is located east of 
Cloncurry in Queensland and includes gold mineralisation previously explored 
by the Company.

Kingsgate Tenements Held 
Akara Mining Limited: Chatree Gold Mine, Thailand: 100% – flow through 
interest for gold.

Minera Kingsgate Limited: Chile: 100% flow through interest for gold

Kingsgate Peru SRL: Peru: 100% flow through interest for gold
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Kingsgate is a gold expert in exploration, development and mining with a 
track record of world’s best practice in sustainability (safety, environment, 
community relations).
Our focus is to achieve superior returns for shareholders.
Our aim is to leverage the competitive edge developed at our low cost 
Chatree mine in Thailand to expand production elsewhere in South East Asia, 
South America and Australia.

WHO IS KINGSGATE?

Regeneration at Chatree 
The team at the Chatree Gold Mine is constantly 
seeking new or local species which will improve 
land productivity and enhance biodiversity. Our 
plant nurseries develop a range of plant stocks 
for regenerating previously disturbed land. 

 
This commitment to world’s best practice 
is further demonstrated through water 
management. Chatree’s approach is zero 
discharge and recycles more than 80% of its 
water in an area with a long dry season.
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DELIVERS

Low Cost Gold
Lowest Discovery Cost
Lowest Quartile Production Cost
Expansion to 300, 000 oz/yr
Proven Track Record
World Class Sustainability
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